
Date Published:24 February 2021     

Environment Scrutiny Committee

Wednesday 3 March 2021 at 10.00 am

Please note that this meeting will be held remotely and can be 
viewed on the County Council website at
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies for absence.

Chair

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 16)

To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 9 December 2020 
and 13 January 2021.

Chair

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the Committee are invited to declare any pecuniary or personal 
interests relating to specific matters on the agenda.

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

Chair

4  DECEMBER 2020 FLOODING: GLOUCESTERSHIRE LEAD 
LOCAL FLOOD AUTHORITY SUMMARY REPORT (Pages 17 - 36)

To consider the attached report and discuss whether the Committee want to 
look into this issue further after today’s meeting.

James 
Blockley

5  RAIL DEVELOPMENTS (Pages 37 - 40)

To consider the attached update report.

Robert Niblett

6  RESTORING OUR RIVERS - ONE PAGE STRATEGY (Pages 41 - 
42)

To review the attached draft one page strategy for the Restoring our Rivers 
task group.

If this is approved, the task group will seek to convene after the 2021 county 

Chair

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/


    

election.

7  EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S REPORT: ECONOMY, ENVIRONMENT 
& INFRASTRUCTURE (Pages 43 - 50)

Colin Chick, Executive Director of Economy, Environment & Infrastructure 
to update the Committee on current issues.

Colin Chick

8  WORK PLAN (Pages 51 - 52)

This is the final Committee of this Council term. Members may wish to 
suggest future items for the next Committee to consider.

Chair

9  FUTURE MEETINGS 

NEXT COUNCIL

16 June 2021
14 July 2021
9 September 2021
23 November 2021

Chair

Membership –  Cllr Phil Awford, Cllr Robert Bird (Chair), Cllr Dr John Cordwell (Vice-Chair), 
Cllr Kevin Cromwell, Cllr Stephen Hirst, Cllr Sajid Patel, Cllr Eva Ward, Cllr Suzanne Williams and 
Cllr Keith Rippington

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Acting Monitoring 
Officer, (Rob Ayliffe Tel:01452 328506/ e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior 
to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Sophie Benfield, Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324094/ e-mail: sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c)

(d) 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Members are required to sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see page 81 of 

the Constitution).

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (Tel 01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
MINUTES of a meeting of the Environment Scrutiny Committee held on Wednesday 9 
December 2020 virtually.

PRESENT:
Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr Robert Bird (Chair)
Cllr Dr John Cordwell (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Kevin Cromwell

Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Sajid Patel
Cllr Suzanne Williams

Substitutes:        Cllr Rachel Smith

Officers in attendance: Simon Excell, James Blockley, David Hudson (Environment 
Agency), Hayley Deighton (Environment Agency), Cllr Nigel 
Moor (Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning) and Cllr 
Vernon  Smith (Cabinet Member for Highways and Floods)

Apologies:                    Cllr Eva Ward and Cllr Keith Rippington

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Cllr Phil Awford declared an interest as Chair of the National Flood Forum and as a 
representative for the Wessex/Severn Wye at the Regional Flood Defence 
Committee.

3. MOTION 864: RESTORING OUR RIVERS 

3.1 To begin, the Chair invited Cllr Paul Hodgkinson, the proposer of the original 
motion, to introduce the item. The Committee were reminded that this motion 
was presented at full Council in September 2020 and received a lot of cross-
party support.

3.2 Gloucestershire was very proud of its natural landscape and the 28 rivers 
within attracted a lot of visitors, revenue and enjoyment for the county’s 
residents. What had come to light more recently however, was the level 
pollution of these rivers were experiencing through the discharge of harmful 
pollutants, raw sewage and human waste. This pollution was causing 
extensive damage to our fragile eco system as well as being a major public 
health concern for residents and visitors. This issue was not unique to 
Gloucestershire, across the country, only 14% of rivers were rated as ‘good’ 
in terms of ecological status. For the Thames region this figure falls to just 
3%. It was a topic that was beginning to be discussed all the way up to 
national politics.

3.3 In terms of GCC’s responsibility, the proposer saw Councillors role as 
elected officials to step up and be the first port of call to hold relevant 
authorities to account and show leadership on tackling this scandal.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

3.4 Second, the Chair invited Cllr Bernard Fisher, seconder of the initial motion, 
to contribute. The Councillor endorsed the previous comments and urged the 
Committee this was a non-political issue which was of major national 
concern. They added that this problem was only going to get worse through 
increased housing capacity, free range farming and the impacts of climate 
change on our weather patterns. 

3.5 The Committee next welcomed David Hudson, Environment Manager for 
Gloucestershire and Warwickshire at the Environment Agency (EA), to 
present their response to the motion. Members noted the following points:

 The EA recognised GCC’s responsibilities (as set out by the published 
report from James Blockley) as the lead flood authority, and being distinct 
from that of the EA on this issue.

 The approach to how we managed water pollution in the UK was 
complicated. It was a two regulator approach where the EA set the 
environmental standards (which were largely driven by national 
legislation) and enforce those standards but they did not control the 
investment water companies were required to contribute towards 
delivering improvements to water management.

 These investment levels were set over a 5-6 year period by an 
organisation called OfWat and they regulated the economic delivery of 
that expenditure. This was essentially the control factor for how quickly 
essential improvements could be delivered.

 The target for these improvements however, was not to deliver water of 
‘bathing’ standard, but to a standard of acceptable ecological status, 
which was not as high a standard as bathing/drinking water. This was not 
a decision the EA were able to reverse as it derived from national 
legislation. The EA were very aware that this was often misunderstood by 
the public and there was a noticeable mismatch between what the 
legislation was designed to deliver and what the public expected.

 On the issue of sewers, the country largely ran on combined sewerage 
systems which meant that surface water and foul sewage all ran into the 
same pipe. What happened therefore when we experience heavier 
rainfall was the pipes were not big enough to cope with the increased 
surface water and that’s when they overflow. Part of the solution for river 
pollution was to have separate sewers so if they did overflow in bad 
weather, the flood water was essentially clean rain water, rather than 
being combined with foul sewage. Almost all new developments were 
now built with separated sewer systems.

 The creation of the River Seven Partnership (which will be discussed 
later in the meeting) will allow more flexible priority work for those areas 
along the River Seven.

 There was an option for local authorities to apply to the Secretary of State 
to have a higher standard of water quality allocated to an area. This 
application needed to be driven by economic and social reasons of why it 
would be beneficial for the applying area. This was a separate process 
with national Government and the EA would only become involved in the 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

process once the area of water had been designated and there was a 
need to deliver that higher standard. It could be that the River Seven 
Partnership would be the body to help GCC scope this work if it was 
required.

Questions

3.6 Whilst accepting that the biggest pollutant to rivers was discharged from 
water companies, it was questioned what was being done to police pollutants 
from crafts on the river. It was advised that craft owners were regulated by 
the navigation authorities who would provide guidance on waste and they 
would encourage good practice through their licensing. If the EA were made 
aware of craft discharging pollutants into a river, it would be happy to 
investigate but its staff could not be everywhere and they relied on people 
reporting such incidents. They could not recall a major incident of boat 
discharge recently but clearly appreciate that lots of little incidents still add 
up to damage of the river.

3.7 It was questioned what standards the EA were working to in terms of their 
expectation on water companies. The Committee were referred to section 4 
of the report which explained that this was the responsibility of Ofwat, the 
economic regulator, to make sure companies delivered a good 
environmental standard and only the monitoring of that standard was carried 
out by the EA. In addition it was noted that clearly water companies 
navigated in the public eye, and they were increasingly focused on the public 
perception of the service they were providing.

ACTION: Share Offwat website link where monitoring data is published

3.8 Methods of this monitoring would include things such as; taking samples 
from the river water and discharge coming out of the pipes, monitoring the 
existence of habitat, checking the quantity of fish and looking at the riverbed 
sediment. All the monitoring would add up into an environmental scoring that 
would be added to the overall assessment for that area. It was added that 
there was also separate, and almost continuous monitoring of the discharge 
by the water companies themselves.

3.9 The Water Framework Direction was an overarching umbrella piece of 
legislation that held everything in place and set the standards that the EA 
work with. It was viewed as a strong and sensible piece of legislation that 
allowed Government to drive what they needed to do.

3.10 The EA felt it had sufficient resource to deliver the environmental standard it 
was required to deliver in Gloucestershire. It was reiterated however that the 
public perception of this adequacy of resource may be different as their 
expected standard tended to be a lot higher.

ACTION: Share further detail on Catchment Area Based Approach at point 
7.5 in the report

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

3.11 Several members highlighted the popular use of some areas of the river in 
Gloucestershire, such as Bourton on the Water in the warmer months. 
Members felt there was a responsibility to maintain a reasonable quality of 
water in these areas.

3.12 It was noted that this seemed to be particular problem for English rivers and 
questioned whether this was as a result of cuts in funding to the EA from 
central Government. It was explained that the EA did not spend a lot of its 
own resource on delivering the input that brought environmental 
improvements. Its role was to set the standards and form a process for 
improvement, that other bodies then fund and delivered.

3.13 This was also the reason that a lot of the EA’s work appeared to be reactive, 
rather than proactive planning. Whilst the EA did a lot of enforcement after 
the fact, other organisations would be doing regular, active monitoring and 
ongoing engagement. 

3.14 A member informed the Committee that there had been evidence in their 
local area (through testing outlets on the river) that residents often had their 
home appliances plumped into the wrong outlets, resulting in polluted water 
entering the rivers directly from homes. It was advised this was known as 
‘misconnections’ and unfortunately was a well-known incident, particularly 
within new housing developments and secondary improvements to existing 
houses. Where the separation of sewers had actually been achieved, this 
resulted in contamination of surface water. There was an ongoing joint 
programme of work with Seven Trent to try and resolve these incidents.

3.15 In challenging this response, a member commented they were aware that 
this did not only happen through building sites making a mistake, but also the 
water authority themselves combining sewers further down the network. It 
was advised that it was a very complicated network and was not always easy 
to understand exactly where sewers were becoming contaminated.

3.16 The Committee noted that 40% of pollution to our rivers was caused by 
agriculture and there was a significant example of this in the summer of a 
chicken farm run off into the Wye. The enforcement powers for these 
incidents already existed in the Water Resources Act and through 
environmental permitting regulations, what was changing however, was the 
more economic tools like the New Environmental Land Management  (ELM – 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-environmental-land-
management-scheme-an-overview) Scheme and DEFRA farming rules. 
Thankfully we were not seeing as many big pollution incidents however, it 
was more to do with the very high number of small events, which were a lot 
more difficult to address in the long term.

3.17 It was questioned whether the new Storm Overflows Taskforce had any 
plans to significantly change the infrastructure to enable the separation of the 
existing sewage network. It was advised that the quantity of combined 

Page 4

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-environmental-land-management-scheme-an-overview
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-environmental-land-management-scheme-an-overview


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

sewage in the UK was enormous so the task of separating these would not 
be their first move. It was likely that the Taskforce would look into other 
maintenance steps that could bring an improvement to the existing setup 
first.

3.18 The Committee were advised that in some cases, the discharge of untreated 
sewage into rivers was actually permitted under strict and extreme 
circumstances. A member was extremely concerned to learn however that in 
one area of Gloucestershire, there was a recorded 2,026 hours of untreated 
spillage (which added up to a quarter of a year) and queried how this could 
be described as an ‘extreme’ circumstance. It was advised that the EA would 
regard 25% of the time as extremely high and the Taskforce would be 
targeting this level of spillage as it indicated there was something wrong with 
the network in this area. Overall they would expect to see about 3%.

3.19 As GCC was the lead flood authority for Gloucestershire, it was questioned 
whether our officers should be commenting on planning applications to 
advise against combined sewers, for example. The EA advised that anything 
that could be achieved at the planning stage to encourage sustainable 
drainage would take the increasing level of surface water out of the system, 
which would have a positive impact in terms of flood risk.

3.20 GCC officers added that the Council were able to advise on planning 
applications and do so, but they could not stipulate things such as separate 
sewers. In addition, GCC worked closely with the water and sewage 
authorities to achieve this where it was possible. It was appreciated that 
closer work was required to ensure authorities were publicly sharing 
information on combined sewage pollution and identifying areas 
improvements were needed.

3.21 In concluding their discussion, the Committee noted that there were two 
separate courses of action open to them. The first was the suggestion of a 
GCC task group from the proposer of the motion, which had been supported 
by other members, including the lead Cabinet Member. The second, to 
explore the suggestion from the EA regarding applying for areas of 
designated bathing water (the link for which was provided in the report).

3.22 On procedural issues, the Committee acknowledged that the second 
possible action would need to be referred to the lead Cabinet Member for 
this area to pursue on their behalf. For the task group, members needed to 
be mindful of the up and coming Purdah restrictions which were due to begin 
on 22 March 2021. This meant that any task group work would not be able to 
continue post that meeting date until after the May 2021 elections, therefore 
the work would either need to be concluded by then or referred to the next 
council.

3.23 The Committee agreed for the creation of a task group to commence, and a 
one page strategy for its work be presented at the Committee meeting in 
March 2021 for discussion and approval. This would be led initially by the 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

proposer and seconder of the motion with the support of Democratic 
Services. If the one page strategy was approved in March, this would give a 
commitment for the next Committee to continue this work after the election.

ACTION: Democratic Services

4. RIVER SEVERN PARTNERSHIP 

4.1 The Chair invited Hayley Deighton, West Midlands Sustainable Growth 
Manager & River Severn Partnership Programme Manager for the 
Environment Agency, to present this item. Members noted the following 
points:

 Slide 2 gave an overview of the Partnership and where it was headed. 
The Partnership was formed in September 2019 and was aimed at 
looking at the opportunities for the EA to take a proactive role in 
developing long term planning to protect, and enhance our environment, 
whilst also bringing together collective resources from across the 
geography.

 The environmental drive for this was the significant challenges that would 
continue to impact us such as climate change, water quality, Brexit and 
land management, but there were also economic and social drivers for 
creating this long-term, sustainable growth.

 The environment had to become the forefront of our future planning, but 
was also an important asset that needed active management for society 
and our future economy.

 The Partnership recognised many individual organisations were 
continuing to do good work, but that we can’t, and shouldn’t, be taking on 
these challenges alone. 

 Slide 3 set out the needs, risks and opportunities that had already been 
identified. It was highlighted that the risks and financial impacts currently 
would only continue to increase if no action was taken.

 Doing nothing was no longer an option. The prediction on increasing river 
levels alone posed a real challenge for communities along the Severn, as 
well as the predications on reducing water availability and quality.

 There were however real opportunities to release significant benefits from 
spending and investing in the natural environment. Not only would it 
boost productivity but it would also reduce yearly revenue costs of 
dealing with increasing major incidents.

 The Partnership would seek to bring together water and environmental 
management, to put it at the forefront of our thinking and deliver wide 
reaching place based resilience, net environmental gain and benefits for 
our economy and society as a whole.

 Slide 7 summarised the many different organisations that had now joined 
the Partnership which included all local authorities along the catchment, 
LEPs, Welsh Partners, many environmental groups as well as wider 
reaching organisations such as Homes England etc.

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

 Slides 8-14 outlined and reinforced the current and predicted impacts of 
flooding, drought and climate change on Gloucestershire.

 Slide 15 detailed the work of the Partnership to date which included 
continued wider engagement on the risks of no action, the formation of a 
46 MP Consortium to help connect its work into national Government, an 
early success of a £41m investment to accelerate 3 existing schemes 
(detailed under Now on slide 16) and the official identification of the 
Partnership as a national pilot.

 It had also brought in consultancy support to pull together and rank all 
projects from across the geography and partner organisations (around 
200 individual projects). These would then be categorised into 1 of 4 
demonstrator project groups:

1. Looking at resilience and how we unlock potential – proactively 
build water management schemes that unlock further benefit and 
recycle benefit;

2. Nature based solutions – nature recovery / natural flood 
management etc.;

3. Reliance and adaptation – the acceptance that we will never 
completely eradicate risk – produce a centre for excellence living 
with water and adapting to it; or

4. Place based issues – bring all risks/issues together into one 
programme.

4.2 As the officer responsible for flood risk management at GCC, James 
Blockley added that the Partnership enabled GCC to work closely with 
partners across the catchment to work with the water, where it came from, 
where it fell and where it ended up. Everyone appreciated that water did not 
respect county boundaries and working together meant we were not only 
managing a problem in one area, to just pushing it down the river to create a 
problem elsewhere. It was a very exciting project that GCC were completely 
behind and had contributed financially in the early stages of the Partnerships 
set up. Members were encouraged to liaise with officers on suitable schemes 
for the resilience fund mapping.

4.3 A member questioned whether the Sever Estuary Partnership had been 
involved. It was advised that there had been initial conversations but there 
needed to be further detailed discussions. The Partnership had naturally 
evolved over the past year, and had suddenly taken on many different 
partners which was a massive strength. Work now needed to be done to 
formalise these arrangements, set up a government structure etc. 

5. WORK PLAN 

The Committee discussed the following points in relation to its ongoing work plan 
for the remaining two meetings of this Council:

 The end of a Council term provided a good opportunity to look back at 
promises made and whether actions had been taken. An item on the Electric 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

Vehicle Infrastructure strategy was requested for the Committee’s meeting in 
January.

 For March, the Committee requested a report on the issue of flood water 
impacting the highways and rail developments in the county.

 There was a discussion about the climate impact assessments of Cabinet 
decisions. Cllr Moor (Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning) 
advised the Committee he was due to present the annual climate change 
report to Cabinet on 16 December 2020.

 The majority of the Committee therefore agreed to review this report, and the 
outcomes of the December Cabinet meeting, before requesting any updates 
on the impact assessment work, amongst other things.

 A member stressed the importance of this Committee looking into the issue, 
ascertaining what action had already been taken and what was planned for 
the future.

CHAIR

Meeting concluded at 13:00.

Page 8



- 1 -

ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
MINUTES of a meeting of the Environment Scrutiny Committee held on Wednesday 13 
January 2021 virtually.

PRESENT:
Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr Robert Bird (Chair)
Cllr Dr John Cordwell (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Kevin Cromwell

Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Sajid Patel
Cllr Suzanne Williams

Substitutes: Cllr Rachel Smith

Officers in attendance: Cllr Nigel Moor (Cabinet Member for Environment and 
Planning), Cllr Vernon  Smith (Cabinet Member for Highways 
and Flood), Colin Chick, Simon Excell and Philip Williams

Apologies: Cllr Eva Ward and Cllr Keith Rippington

2. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 24 November 2020 were approved.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Cllr Phil Awford declared an interest as Chair of the National Flood Forum and as a 
representative for the Wessex/Severn Wye at the Regional Flood Defence 
Committee.

4. ELECTRIC VEHICLES INFRASTRUCTURE UPDATE 

4.1 The Chair invited Philip Williams, Lead Commissioner – Community 
Infrastructure, to present this update report. Members noted the following 
points:

 This report was a follow on update from the draft Gloucestershire Ultra 
Low Emission Vehicle (ULEV) strategy members considered at their 
meeting in March 2020.

 The Electric Vehicle (EV) infrastructure rollout had been impacted by 
Covid as resource from the department had to be diverted to other areas. 
Atkins were therefore approached last summer and additional resource 
was procured to help support the rollout going forward.

 This report summarised the work that had been ongoing during the Covid 
pandemic and the next steps.

 There had been continued learning from networking with other local 
authorities and electricity suppliers in the south west. The Energy 
Savings Trust also provided useful challenge on the Strategy during 
discussions on funding.

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

 The team had been working closely with GCC’s procurement department 
to understand how the new Dynamic Purchasing System for the Council 
would work for this Strategy. They had also explored how to make sure 
the procurement contract was available for other local authorities and 
bodies in Gloucestershire to use so they did not have to go through the 
lengthy process GCC has had to.

 The next stage was for the lead Cabinet Member to decide whether or 
not to adopt the Strategy as it was, which would then enable officers to 
begin the tender process.

4.2 It was questioned how long after the decision from Cabinet would the rollout 
begin. It was advised once the Strategy had been approved; it would only be 
a few months. The rollout would be done in phases, and would depend on 
the levels of funding received from central Govt. through the procurement 
process. Unlike many other councils however, GCC had been investing its 
own money in this project for some time. This therefore gave us leverage to 
secure more Government grant funding and also with the charging 
companies in terms of where charging points would be installed.

4.3 Feedback from the Committee and experts had steered the first stage of the 
rollout to focus on areas where there was the greatest on-street residential 
demand for charging points. It was stressed therefore that even though the 
rollout may appear to focus on towns in the first instance, this did not mean 
the more rural areas would be forgotten. There were requirements attached 
to the grant funding from Govt. and we also had to be mindful of equitable 
access. Members were reminded that the EV charging market was vast and 
GCC was only one part of the overall rollout.

4.4 It was added that the rollout had to be organic, what we needed to avoid was 
starting with a list of locations and a roadmap rollout of 200 charging points, 
as by the time we got to completing the list the demand locations  would 
have changed. The level of take up had increased dramatically in the past 
few years and we need to be able to respond in a more agile way to the 
varying demand. It was noted that the rollout will take account of areas 
where chargers have been requested, but will also have to match demand in 
that area so we did not end up with a charger being installed and only ever 
used by one resident.

4.5 It was queried how GCC judged potential utilisation of EV chargers. It was 
highlighted that in Tewkesbury for example, many areas struggled to have 
access to parking for their houses, let alone areas to park and charge. The 
rollout in such areas was going to be complex and could lead to residential 
streets becoming even more overloaded with vehicles looking to park than 
they already were.

4.6 In response, members heard that officers were using a wide range of data 
sets to understand the demographics of areas, taking into account a range of 
factors from economic to social requirements. This would help identify 
communities who were, for example, less financially able or less interested in 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

making the change to EV at the moment whilst the market was still new. 
There was also an ongoing exercise of collating  views from a number of 
organisations to share knowledge of what was happening on the ground.

4.7 The member welcomed the second part of this response, stressing that it 
was a very narrow alley to go down if we were simply going to look at 
datasets for assessing green credentials in areas. It was vital to take account 
of local representatives’ knowledge and awareness as opposed to only using 
data based marketing tools.

4.8 It was added that the team had listened to previous comments from 
members about not taking space away from pedestrians and cyclists in the 
installation of the chargers. The more compact equipment was expected to fit 
on pavements, otherwise there would be small islands on the road to 
accommodate it.

4.9 Noting that we had seen a significant increase in the uptake of EV in recent 
years, it was queried how GCC would meet the infrastructure demands if this 
level of increase continued. It was reminded that this was not GCC’s 
responsibility alone to provide the infrastructure; the rollout would include a 
mixed market of businesses, private residents and local authorities providing 
the charging points. For GCC its focus would primarily be on-street parking, 
for districts it would likely be off-street car parks, for example. The Govt.’s 
prioritisation of this area had been increasing, which brought more secured 
and maintained funding streams. A member requested data on the number 
of EV currently circulating in the county.

ACTION: Philip Williams

4.10 A member questioned whether GCC were actively working with district 
councils in order to achieve an efficient county wide policy. It was advised 
that at this stage in the rollout, there was closer working with some councils 
more than others. The area where there would be the greatest overlap was 
in sharing of experience and also sharing knowledge on the contractual 
angle. Members noted GCC had spent a lot of time and money to acquire 
the technical knowledge this project needed and wanted to avoid others 
councils in Gloucestershire needing to do the same.

4.11 In addition it was highlighted that it was hard to collaborate at the moment 
due to the pressures inflicted by the ongoing pandemic on all councils. This 
programme was only at the beginning of an initial three year implementation 
plan, meaning there will be a lot of future opportunities to work closer with 
districts and parishes. It was stressed however that there was not as much 
overlap between different council priorities as some may think.

4.12 An action was taken to liaise with the project team on having proactive 
conversations with others councils and establishing these procurement links 
where they were wanted.

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

ACTION: Philip Williams

4.13 Members noted that all councils could have access to the OLEV Govt. 
funding, as long as their request met the grant restrictions. For example, the 
fund could not be used to supply charging points in shopping carparks as 
this was classed as commercially viable. They would however be able to 
apply for a grant for a parish carpark that was regularly used by residents for 
overnight parking for example. There were grey areas of the criteria that 
OLEV were encouraging councils to take advantage of.

4.14 In terms of mapping location and availability of charging points, the 
Committee heard that there were a lot of open source mapping systems out 
there which Gloucestershire could feed into. It was important to understand 
that these points were not dedicated to residents or houses, they would be 
shared and open to those travelling through. It may also be that in certain 
areas, there will need to be a legal requirement that the bays can only be 
used to charge vehicles and not for general parking.

4.15 The Lead Cabinet Member added that what the team had demonstrated in 
this update was the careful tracking of the Govt. funding progress and should 
be congratulated for putting GCC in a good position to bid for this. One of the 
dangers we had to be aware of was thinking that this rollout was similar to 
planning for new housing developments, for example. This was a developing 
market, which was changing incredibly quickly, we had to make sure our 
strategy did not become too prescriptive. The market would continue 
respond, and we needed to be conscious we did not over provide whilst it 
was still in its infancy. Range anxiety was an issue when petrol stations first 
began to roll out in mass across the country, electric charging points would 
soon catch up the same way.

4.16 In respect to the planning system, the Cabinet Member urged that it needed 
to enable development for this project to be a success. A recent example 
was given of a site in the Cotswolds which faced a lot of objections from all 
angles and eventually ended up going to appeal. The appeal decision was 
given in less than 3 weeks and it was successful. The conclusions we could 
draw from this was that this Govt. was determined to see the planning 
system as an enabler in respect of EV infrastructure rollout.

5. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S REPORT: ECONOMY, ENVIRONMENT & 
INFRASTRUCTURE 

5.1 Colin Chick, Executive Director of Economy, Environment and Infrastructure, 
updated the Committee on current issues. In particular, members noted that:

 M5 J10 had completed its public consultation which ran from October – 
November last year, the process of land acquisition for the project had 
started and it aimed to secure as much in advance as possible, hoping 
for a Preferred Route Announcement in spring 2021.

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

 The Highways contracts continued to move forward, regardless of any 
implications of the third lockdown, although the team had been heavily 
impacted by the recent flooding events and need for increased gritting 
delivery.

 Phases 3 and 4 of the West Cheltenham project were due to go on site 
through this third lockdown. Additional work had been needed to reduce 
the risk of Covid transmission on site.

 Positive early feedback from parents and children about the School 
Streets pilots in Tewkesbury and in Warden Hill (Cheltenham).

 The funding pot for the B4603 project was almost there, it was about 
£1.5m short but there were a number of funding options to consider. 

 Unfortunately the M5 J9 scheme had returned to negotiation on scheme 
options due to a last minute challenge from Highways England on the 
chosen option.

5.2 A member raised the ongoing issue of flooding on the A417 to Maisemore, 
noting that the closure of this road was happening more frequently and was 
having a considerable impact on residents and businesses. It was 
questioned whether a prevention scheme could be added to the Local 
Transport Plan for future considering. The cabinet member responsible 
encouraged the member to raise this in a question at the next Cabinet 
meeting. 

5.3 Noting at 4.1 that the current rail strategy was published in March 2020, a 
member questioned whether there was a plan to update this soon. It was 
advised that with the strategy being only 9 months old, officers would not be 
looking to update it yet. It had been very useful in driving recent 
improvements to the rail services in the county, with the metro service to 
Gloucester going live at the end of this year. Members noted the need to 
keep pressure on rail companies post-Covid to reinstate the level of service 
Gloucestershire had before, as it was possible to become stuck in a cycle of 
residents not using services due to their infrequency and rail companies 
therefore feeling the demand was not there to justify increasing them.

5.4 Further detail was requested regarding the failure to secure funds mentioned 
at 4.11. It was explained that GCC could request two forms of funding from 
developers for housing – Section 106 and CIL (Community Infrastructure 
Levy). As the latter did not generally go towards education/library facilities, 
the section 106 contributions were vital for being able to provide this 
infrastructure. What GCC were beginning to experience however was 
developers (or district councils in some cases) refusing to pay the section 
106 monies due to a misunderstanding of where the CIL contributions would 
go. 

5.5 Officers informed that GCC were battling hard against these cases, but 
unfortunately due to the 2 tiered system of council in Gloucestershire, it was 
only an advisory body to planning applications. It was on developers to agree 
to the infrastructure contribution suggestions, rather than GCC being able to 
demand them. The team were due to attend a court hearing on one 

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

particular development soon, which they believe will form the basis of 
precedent going forward and had therefore spent a lot of time preparing for.

5.6 It was advised that the Stroud Local Plan may have to be reviewed by Stroud 
District Council in light of the recent change in Govt. policy on planning for 
the future. As members were aware, GCC could only act as an advisory 
body for local plans but it was noted that GCC officers were currently 
objecting to the Sharpness development as it stood due to its unsustainable 
transport issues.

5.7 A member questioned whether GCC supported the reopening of community 
rail stations in the county e.g. the one at Stonehouse. It was advised that for 
every person you improve their convenience in access to a local rail station; 
there was a disadvantage to the multiple users of the services going through 
that area, due to the additional stop. With each additional stop leading to an 
increased connection time. Network Rail had advised that the line from 
Bristol to Birmingham could only accommodate 1 or 2 additional stations 
without a major negative impact on services. It was therefore critical that 
detailed analysis be undertaken to assess where these were best placed to 
support and maximise large scale growth in the future in the most 
sustainable manner.

5.8 On the innovation of libraries at 5.1, it was queried whether there was access 
to 3D printers/scanners. It was advised that the Innovation Lab concept, 
which was now live in Coleford and due to be rolled out in the other 5 
districts, would have all such 3D facilities. These Lab’s had been designed to 
encourage, excite and enthuse young people into the field of cyber and IT 
careers, but also to provide the necessary support services for SMEs.

5.9 There was a query about local cycling objections to the A419 works taking 
place in Stonehouse. It was informed that when the scheme was approved, it 
was more of a traditional type scheme that potentially gave motorist priority 
over cyclists and would probably not be approved nowadays. The team were 
in constant dialogue with the cycling group and were actively considering 
how to best amend the scheme to address their concerns.

5.10 On the list of Emergency Active Travel (EATF) schemes that were submitted 
but not allocated funding back in the summer, it was advised that officers 
were working through the list to see if it was possible to at least move some 
of the schemes forward from a design perspective with GCC’s own funding 
and then if an external funding pot became available, schemes would be 
available to bid for it.

5.11 The smaller, local schemes were being considered in parallel with continuing 
to develop the cycle lane ‘spine’ throughout the county. The focus needed to 
be on developing the spine for smaller schemes to feed off, but officers 
appreciated member comments that these smaller schemes offered vital 
cycle connections for local residents making smaller journeys. 

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

5.12 The team were focused on delivering all levels of the cycle network as 
quickly as possible but these schemes cost serious money and needed to be 
conscious of budget implications. GCC’s capacity to deliver and design cycle 
schemes, particularly the smaller ones, could be significantly improved 
subject to this years budget approval, was it included money to increase 
capacity for an in-house design team, which would result in a faster and 
more efficient process, as opposed to fielding everything out to external 
consultants.

ACTION: SHARE A LIST OF THE 5 EATF SCHEMES 

5.13 A member stressed that it was vital to ensure the highway was safe and fit 
for purpose when implementing these cycle schemes. If potholes, for 
example, were resident, motorists tended to weave into cycle lanes to avoid 
them. 

5.14 It was noted that the waiting times at Hempsted and Pike Quarry Home 
Recycling Centres had experienced an increase in waiting times. It was 
advised that HRC’s were constantly reviewed and improved where possible. 
One of the advantages of moving to a permanent booking system was the 
possibility to develop a new platform, as the current platform being used was 
fairly inflexible. This option was being actively discussed with cabinet.

5.15 A member added that some residents in Tewkesbury were travelling to out of 
county HRCs instead where there were no booking systems. There had also 
been a major increase in fly tipping in the area and It was questioned 
whether there was there any coloration wit this. 

5.16 In response, members appreciated that not having a booking system at the 
moment would not be advisable due to the need to enforce Covid 
restrictions. Fly tipping was, in the main, a criminal commercial operation and 
therefore officers would not make the link between having to wait for a 
couple of days to visit a HRC, with the criminal activity of fly tipping. It may 
however cause residents to consider other waste removal companies 
instead, who themselves were then illegal disposing of waste they collected.

6. WORK PLAN 

6.1 The Committee reviewed the work plan for their final meeting in March 2021 
(attached). The tentative item on flooding had been suggested at the 
meeting in November in relation to an issue specifically on the more frequent 
flooding of the A417 at Maisemore.

6.2 In light of recent flood events across the county in December, it was stressed 
by several members that this item should be expanded to include urgent 
consideration of these events. Members were aware that flood events in 
December 2020 had been from surface water run off, and were therefore 
different to those normally experienced in Gloucestershire from river 
overflow.

Page 15



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

6.3 Members and officers noted a commitment made at the Corporate Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee for a scrutiny task group to be formed to specifically 
review the events of the December floods, and they wanted to be mindful 
that the Committee were not duplicating work that was already ongoing 
elsewhere.

6.4 Officers requested to take this away as an action to understand the remit of 
the task group request, and where, as the lead scrutiny committee for 
flooding, this Committee would be involved.

6.5 The Chair concluded that it was the Committee’s will overall to receive a 
report reviewing the flood events in December 2020, subject to advice from 
officers on other ongoing avenues of work. Members were all in agreement 
that this was a very urgent and important piece of work that needed to take 
priority on behalf of all residents who had been affected.

ACTION: DSU / Colin Chick / Simon Excell

6.6. There was a request for an item to be considered at a future Committee 
meeting on the climate change impacts of cabinet decisions at GCC. Officers 
advised this work was ongoing and it would be feasible to bring a report on 
this to a future meeting.

ACTION: Philip Williams / DSU

CHAIR

Meeting concluded at 12:45.

Page 16



December 23rd / 24th 2020 flooding: 

 Gloucestershire Lead Local Flood Authority summary report 

  

Introduction 

The following report summarises the scale of the flooding seen across Gloucestershire on 

the 23rd and 24th December 2020, alongside its immediate and longer term impacts. It is 

intended to take a multi-agency overview of the response to the incident, but concentrates 

specifically on the Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) teams with a direct role in flood 

risk mitigation, response, recovery and resilience including Gloucestershire Highways, 

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue (GFRS), Civil Protection Team (CPT) and the Lead Local 

Flood Authority (LLFA). 

The event was characterised by a short period of intense rainfall that fell on saturated 

ground and elevated river levels. From the morning of the 23rd until midnight, the county 

saw nearly 16 hours of rainfall, with some locations reaching nearly 60mm. The rivers 

responded quickly with levels on some reaching their highest recorded peaks. Over 400 

properties were affected, with nearly 300 internally. Drawing comparisons with historical 

flooding events can be misleading as critical monitoring infrastructure is now much more 

widely spread, but based on data collected thus far, it is safe to say that December 2020 was 

the most severe flood event since July 2007. With the accelerating impacts of climate 

change, short, intense, geographically diverse rainfall events such as these will become the 

norm as opposed to the exception, and valuable lessons must be learnt and acted upon to 

increase the county’s readiness and resilience. A summary of property flooding across the 

county is provided in Appendix 1, and a summary of rainfall and river levels is in Appendix 2. 

 

Lead Local Flood Authority 

The County Council as LLFA has a wide range of responsibilities under legislation including 

the Flood and Water Management Act 2010. These include: 

• Investigating and reporting flooding incidents; 

• Managing flood risk from surface water, groundwater and ordinary watercourses;  

• Producing a local flood risk management strategy; 

• Statutory consultee on major developments; 

• Consenting works on ordinary water courses; and  

• Enforcing works to maintain the flow on ordinary water courses. 

The LLFA also has as a local coordinating role, working alongside other Risk Management 

Authorities (RMAs). The following table explains these various roles and responsibilities: 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



 

*GCC includes the LLFA, Highways and GFRS and Civil Protection Team (N.b: GFRS and CPT 

responsibility extends only to incident preparation, response and recovery). It is also 

essential to note that District Councils also play a pivotal role in flood risk management 

which covers preparation, response, investigation and recovery. All Gloucestershire RMAs 

work as part of an extended, collaborative, multi-agency flood risk management team. 

As part of the GCC role, a significant annual investment is made to support flood risk 

management. Since 2008, a minimum of £2.1million a year is made available for teams, 

projects and schemes to increase the flood resilience of the county. This investment 

includes GCC-led studies, initiatives and practical resilience measures including management 

of the highway drainage network and flood alleviation schemes. It also provides funding to 

contribute towards third-party flood alleviation schemes, often led and delivered by District 

Councils. 

In line with the LLFA coordination remit, very soon after the event a series of District-based, 

multi-agency flooding debrief events were arranged. These were aimed at comparing notes 

and reports across the different agencies to build up an accurate picture of the event, to 

discuss lessons learnt and to agree short and longer term actions. Attendees included: 

 LLFA; 

 Gloucestershire Highways; 

 CPT; 

 District Councils (primarily flood risk / water management engineers); 

 Environment Agency (EA); and  

 Water and Sewage Companies (primarily Severn Trent Water). 

 
This was an unprecedented and successful approach to incident assessment and 

investigation that will provide an effective working model for future events. The fact that 

the various RMAs were able to come together in such a short space of time was testament 

to the commitment to partnership working held by all parties. In addition to lessons learnt 

and next steps, the sessions provided the basis for the LLFA-led impact and rainfall / river 

level summaries in Appendices 1 and 2. 

Page 18



Lessons learnt: 

Further evidence was provided through the debrief sessions, and by the event in general, of 

the crucial role played by District Council officers. Not just assisting with incident response 

during a national lockdown, but the immediate efforts to investigate the full local impacts of 

the event. Without this valuable and expert resource, response to and recovery from 

flooding events would be far less effective. These teams are often very small and under-

resourced (in some Districts just a single officer). Based on the December event, further 

consideration will need to be given to how the District resource is supported centrally if it is 

to fulfil its flood risk management potential. 

An additional local resource that helped communities prepare for, and react to, the flooding 

is provided by local flood wardens and flood action groups. These schemes are more active 

in some areas than others, but are an example of positive local action that could be 

replicated in other areas if central support was increased. 

Another issue raised during the debrief sessions and in subsequent reports was the need for 

a clearer, more consistent list of immediate flooding contacts. It was evident that some 

residents and local councillors were not clear on who to contact for which elements of the 

flooding incident. The LLFA provides a detailed flood guide containing information on how 

to prepare for, react to and recover from flooding which was revised and republished as an 

online resource shortly before the December event, and distributed via press release and 

social media channels. This contains all of the relevant contact details for the various RMAs, 

including how to report incidents on line (including the LLFA’s Flood Online Reporting Tool, 

FORT) but a separate contact list was nevertheless developed immediately after the debrief 

sessions, agreed by all partners, and subsequently distributed widely / published on line 

(see Appendix 3). 

Whilst there is an extensive resource allocated to flood warnings and river level / rainfall 

alerts across the RMAs, primarily by the EA, some of the initial warnings leading up to the 

23rd may have under-estimated the speed at which the river levels responded to the rainfall 

and the impacts of surface water flooding. No one organisation has a ‘crystal ball’, and the 

response was nevertheless excellent, but attention may need to be given to strengthening 

this aspect of the county’s preparedness, perhaps involving a programme of investigation / 

assessment / extension of flood warning infrastructure. 

Individual property flood resilience funding is often made available by Government 

following major events, to enable households to be better protected from flooding and to 

speed their recovery. Eligibility criteria for these grants can often be overly restrictive and 

key communities can often miss out. To date, no such grants have been announced to cover 

the December event, and this leaves local authorities across the country facing the decision 

to fill the immediate need with local funded and delivered grant schemes. 

A wider, catchment-scale approach to flood risk management needs to be strengthened 

alongside ‘traditional’ flood alleviation schemes. This is already in place in some areas, but 

this holistic approach, combining upstream land and natural flood management needs to be 

more widely implemented and centrally supported across the county. The LLFA has recently 

Page 19

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/flood-risk-management/flood-guide/
https://swim.geowessex.com/glos/


combined forces with neighbouring LLFAs to submit an £11 million project proposal to the 

national Innovation Resilience Programme. If successful, the local proposal, ‘Working with 

Natural Gloucestershire’ will see a £1.4 million investment into natural flood management 

and upper-catchment land management projects over the next six years. 

Despite the need for improvement as listed above, two key positive messages arose from 

the December flooding. Firstly that the significant investment made over recent years has 

had a noticeable benefit. Whilst the event was severe, the potential impacts were to a 

certain extent reduced. Investment covering flood alleviation schemes, property level flood 

resilience measures, a robust approach to managing flood risk in new developments, public 

awareness raising and an enhanced highway drainage maintenance schedule have all added 

to the protection of homes and businesses and the overall resilience of the county. That 

said, there is always more that can be done, and these improvements will continue as long 

as the funding commitment is maintained. Secondly that all RMAs worked as a highly 

effective extended flood risk management team; both in the immediate response to the 

event, and also with regard to post event investigation and assessment, with very few 

shortfalls or gaps. This solid partnership will continue to work together to increase the 

resilience of the county and to respond to future flooding events. 

Moving forward - Next steps: 

Climate change and the short, intense, diverse rainfall events that it leads to present a 

challenge to the county’s readiness and resilience. Responding to this the LLFA will continue 

to work with all of its partners to put in place a range of short and longer-term actions in 

line with a robust priority schedule and the statutory Local Flood Risk Management 

Strategy. Due to the scale of the event, local expectations must however continue to be 

managed. Initial actions include, but are by no means restricted to: 

 Update resource priority schedule inline with recent data; 

 Promote further public use of the FORT to inform the priority schedule, and wider 

distribution of the flood guide; 

 Carry out location-based higher level Flood Risk Assessments for the worst-hit areas, 

where such evidence is either lacking or out of date; 

 Facilitate information-sharing with local communities to maximise local involvement 

and to keep residents and businesses informed of progress; 

 Immediate actions in worst-hit areas, including maintenance and improvement of 

existing flood alleviation schemes and warning systems; 

 Investigate provision of recovery / resilience householder / business grants, either 

with central Government support or potentially on a local basis; 

 Investigation into strengthening the District Council officers’ roles, accessing funding 

where required; 

 Pursue the Innovation Resilience Programme application to full business case and 

project roll-out; and  

 Develop a longer-term action plan, based on an updated priority schedule, and in 

line with a full revision of the Local Flood Risk Management Strategy.   

Page 20



Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service 

Operational response: 

GFRS found ourselves in spate conditions which put staff in the Control Room under 

significant pressure. We established recall to duty for the Control Station Manager and 

dispatched a Group Manager to Waterwells to support the mobilising of appliances. Three 

Flexi Station Managers were dispatched to various locations across the county to assess 

flooding impact and report back. There were some issues regarding vehicular access to risk 

areas, lone working and lack of welfare (most were driving through significant flood areas 

for around 6 hours). We also saw issues regarding flat batteries in Airwave radios and 

mobile telephones due to lack of charging leads in temporary cars. The FRS operational 

elements have been fed back through our Operational Debrief and Monitoring system.   

Resources: 

From a resourcing perspective we had high activity and had to prioritise sending resources 

to where it was thought there was potential risk to life.  This meant that many calls did not 

receive a response for several hours as they were not considered an urgent priority for GFRS 

due to no life risk. We reacted to information received from 999 calls and partner agency 

information to decide where our resources were needed most. Information received from 

the multi-agency Operation Link calls was shared internally by both the On Call Area 

Manager and Civil Protection Team. Overall, the On Call Area Manager overseeing GFRS 

response felt that, from a GFRS perspective, we managed well considering the limited 

resources in the Control Room and the spate conditions.  

Lessons learnt: 

GFRS recognised that an earlier “heads up” from the Control Room to the Flexi Duty Group 

would have been beneficial in starting to think about wider impacts and perhaps setting up 

Operation Link for multi-agency meetings, earlier than we did. From a resourcing 

perspective we managed limited resources in a timely and efficient manner and the 

prioritisation put in place ensured we reached those most in need as early as possible.  

 

Civil Protection Team 

Throughout the Christmas and New Year period (23rd – 31st December 2020) the County 

Council’s Civil Protection Team (CPT) was involved in supporting the multi-agency response 

to the impacts of flooding and ‘Storm Bella’.  

CPT response: 

During the evening of the 23rd  CPT notified GCC Highways, GCC Communications Team and 

all District Councils that ‘Operation Link’ had been activated to convene a multi-agency 

meeting in response to the significant surface water flooding. CPT representatives attended 

the three meetings that were held over 23rd-24th December 2020 and, following the 

meetings, provided a ‘Common Information Picture’ to key GCC staff involved in emergency 

Page 21



response and all Directors. The Head of Democratic Services also forwarded these updates 

to all GCC elected Members. 

During the evening of the 23rd  CPT liaised closely with Tewkesbury Borough Council and 

GFRS regarding deployment of the High Volume Pump to Tirley and also placed 

Gloucestershire Emergency Support Team (a volunteer scheme overseen by CPT) on standby 

should any of the District Councils have required support with Rest Centres. 

Evacuation of vulnerable residents: 

During the period CPT was also involved in liaising with Tewkesbury Borough Council and 

GFRS to coordinate the evacuation of two vulnerable residents by boat. This included the 

evacuation, on Christmas Day, of a lady from Tirley whose home had flooded and was taken 

to a hotel and a lady from Sandhurst who required urgent hospital treatment.  

Other response support: 

CPT Duty Officer (24/7) also liaised with relevant partners to respond to a number of queries 

that came in via the Duty Officer phone during this period. This included liaising with: 

 GCC Asset and Management Service, Stroud District Council and GFRS regarding the 
potential overtopping of the Thames and Severn Canal at Chalford.  

 Cotswold District Council regarding sewer flooding in Siddington, Cirencester. 

 GCC Health Protection and the EA to provide advice on river levels to Tewkesbury 
Fields Care Home, where a number of residents supported by GCC Adult Social Care 
live.  

 Police, following a request from Tewkesbury Borough Council, regarding motorists 
ignoring road closure signs in Sandhurst and getting stuck or causing bow waves. 

 GCC Adult Social Care and Cotswold District Council to provide information on 
vulnerable people potentially affected by flooding in Cirencester. 

Contact arrangements: 

Previously, elected Members have been provided with a contact number for GFRS Control 

to report any (non 999) issues affecting communities during an emergency. This was on the 

understanding that Control would then liaise with CPT Duty Officer or GFRS Officers as 

appropriate to follow up any such concerns. 

However, during the evening of the 23rd  GFRS Control were dealing with a huge volume of 

calls and it is recognised that, unfortunately, some elected Members were unable to make 

contact via this route. As such, GFRS Assistant Chief Fire Officer, CPT Leader and Head of 

Democratic Services have since met and agreed that elected Members can contact the on 

call Principal GFRS Officer (currently also GCC Gold Officer) during emergencies with any 

particular concerns.  

This will ensure that Members are able to make direct contact with a GFRS Principal Officer 

and free up the CPT Duty Officer number for the emergency services, other GCC Teams, 

District Councils and partners to make contact on operational issues. Information to this 

Page 22



effect including a flow chart, contact numbers and additional useful contact numbers and 

websites have been placed on the Members’ area of the GCC website.  

Debriefs:  

Following the December flooding, CPT has also attended the flooding debriefs with District 

Councils, arranged and facilitated by GCC Flood Risk Team. Members of CPT have also 

submitted feedback to the online Local Resilience Forum (LRF) Flood Debrief.  

Awareness session: 

CPT had previously offered elected Members awareness training on GCC and wider multi-

agency emergency response. CPT is planning to provide awareness refresher sessions for 

elected Members going forward. This forms part of the overall longer term project the team 

is undertaking to build on the County Council’s arrangements and preparedness for 

emergencies and effectively meeting the Council’s statutory responsibilities under the Civil 

Contingencies Act 2004.  

Additional response to January / February 2021 flooding:  

CPT and GFRS have since also been involved in supporting the multi-agency response to the 

recent flooding, in light of further heavy rainfall impacting on already saturated ground and 

elevated river levels. This has included re-deploying the High Volume Pump to Tirley, liaising 

with relevant partners, notifying partners and attending EA Flood Advisory Service 

teleconferences, monitoring relevant websites and providing weather and flooding updates 

to GCC staff involved with emergency response, which again the Head of Democratic 

Services has been forwarding to elected Members for information.  

 

Gloucestershire Highways 

The issue of highway flooding can generally be split into two categories. The first relates to 

flash flooding as a result of storm events and the second to flooding associated with high 

river levels. However, as flooding associated with main rivers tends to be more predictable 

as we usually receive advance notice from partner agencies such as the EA, the following 

relates to GCC Highways’ response to the more reactive and less predictable impact of flash 

flooding. 

Recent events: 

This winter, the Gloucestershire highways network experienced a number of storm related 

weather events that have resulted in heavy rain over an intense period with the most 

notable being on 23rd December 2020 and 20th January 2021. The December event resulted 

in wide spread flash flooding on the highway across the entire county resulting in hundreds 

of issues being reported to us from members of the public and the emergency services. 

Prior to the forecast heavy rain, we deployed crews to known areas at risk from flooding to 

ensure that gully gratings and trash screens were cleared, however the intensity of the rain 

meant that we also experienced issues in areas not normally affected. Storms with rainfall 

Page 23



this intense deliver such a large amount of water in such a short period of time that it 

overwhelmed some of our drainage systems, and whilst in some cases this was caused by 

pipes and gully gratings becoming blocked, other key wider assets were also being 

overwhelmed such as ditches, watercourses and combined sewer systems. In these 

instances flooding can occur, not because the drainage system is blocked or faulty, but 

because the outfall of the system has become submerged, slowing the flow of water. In 

some cases the water level in a ditch or watercourse also exceeds the road level rendering 

the drainage system ineffective.  

In urban areas, flooding is often caused as a result of gully gratings becoming blocked by 

leaves and other detritus. This is a particular problem where demand for on street car 

parking is high, which means it can be difficult for our crews to routinely cleanse the 

drainage systems. Our colleagues in the District Councils also often struggle to sweep the 

streets to remove debris which can then go on to block the drainage system. On 23rd 

December GCC Highways received such a volume of calls both to the in hours and out of 

hours contact centres, it was difficult deploy resources effectively, which meant we were 

still dealing with issues over the entire Christmas period and beyond. As a result, we 

suspended all planned drainage cleansing work at the start of January and redirected 

resources to flood clear up and remedial activities to allow us to empty gullies and use high 

pressure jetting to clear blockages in the drainage system. An additional 37 days of reactive 

jetting resource was used across the county in January as part of the response. 

Working practices: 

Following the December storm event we undertook a review and established a new 

approach to dealing with storms to ensure that resources were deployed in the most 

effective way for future events, the first of which occurred on 20th January in the form of 

storm Christophe. As part of the new approach, we set up Flood Desks in each of our four 

operational areas, which were manned by members of the GCC area teams. Calls continued 

to be taken by the Highway Customer Service Team centrally, however before emergency 

jobs were raised and passed to the contractor for scheduling, they were triaged by the flood 

desk. In addition to the flood desk staff, all available GCC area team staff were out on the 

network and were directed to trouble spots by the flood desk to make an assessment to 

ensure that the correct response was arranged and to establish the required priority of each 

incident.  

This approach allowed the management of an active list of incidents and the subsequent 

deployment of the right resource, to the right place in the correct priority order. This 

process, combined with the suspension of all planned work by works gangs and our jetting 

fleet, meant that we were able to resolve more issues on the first visit and freed up our 

resources to allow us to tackle the greatest risk, largest impact and highest profile problems 

above more minor issues and allowed us to deploy the right resource to the right job. 

Key routes: 

A number of roads and key transport routes were closed as a result of the flooding. Some of 

these are outside of the direct control of Gloucestershire Highways, but every effort was 

Page 24



made to reopen routes as quickly and as safely possible. Where routes remained closed, 

signage was deployed to ensure public safety and reduce the flooding impact of car bow-

waves entering neighbouring properties when motorists attempt to drive through flood 

waters. 

One such key route which is often subject to flooding is the A417 near Maisemore. These 

closures present a persistent challenge for people in the local area and those using it as a 

regular access route into and out of Gloucester, with resulting significant detours and traffic 

congestion. The issue has, however, been recognised by GCC. In 2015, we bid for a 

Department for Transport (DfT) fund towards a £25M scheme to address the issue. The bid 

was unfortunately unsuccessful and the escalating cost of the scheme is beyond what GCC 

would be able to directly fund from existing budgets. More recently, however, fixing this 

problem has been identified as a key issue in the emerging review of the Local Transport 

Plan (LTP) and GCC are continuing to seek funding to do so as climate change will only 

increase the frequency of closures such as these. 

 

Schedule enhancements: 

Whilst Storm Christophe did not bring the rainfall we saw in December, it was a great 

opportunity to test our new process, and whilst there were still learning points to be had, 

the whole process delivered significant improvements in response and subsequent network 

recovery time. In addition to the flood desk approach, we are also reviewing the flood 

locations from December and January as part of an exercise to determine if adjustments 

need to be made the gully cleansing frequency in the worst affected areas. We also continue 

to work with the District Councils on joint authority area deep cleans in busy urban areas 

where residents are contacted to move cars from a street so that we can undertake 

collaborative works with minimal disruption to residents in locations where street cleansing 

and gully emptying is otherwise problematic. We have also increased the number of deep 

cleans undertaken this year and are planning to develop a schedule for further joint 

operations in the coming financial year. 

 

Conclusion 

The flooding associated with the high rainfall event of December 23rd / 24th was some of the 

worst that Gloucestershire has seen since 2007. The impacts were ameliorated by the work 

undertaken in the intervening period however, and response to the event was well 

coordinated and effective as a result of a solid multi-agency partnership. Some clear lessons 

have been learnt in the immediate aftermath, positive coordinated action on which will lead 

to improved readiness for, and resilience to, similar future events. 

 

February 2021. 

  

Page 25

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2302/a417_maisemore_flood_resilience_scheme_application-62818.pdf


13 

88 

120 

16 

99 

103 

 Number of Reports by District 

Cheltenham

Cotswold

Forest of Dean

Gloucester

Tewkesbury

Stroud

Appendix 1: 

Gloucestershire property flooding reports summary 

 

The following information has been derived from a number of sources, including District 

Council officer investigations, LLFA investigations and FORT. A source database is used to 

inform these summaries, but is not included here due to data GDPR restrictions. The 

database does however include information used to inform targeting of resources, such as 

source of flooding, which can be useful to other partners, so a condensed GDPR-compliant 

copy is available on request. Additional data is continually added to the database as further 

reports are received relating to the December event, but the summaries below are correct 

as of 15th February 2021. 

Flood reports by District: 

District Number of reports* 

Cheltenham 13 

Cotswold 88 

Forest of Dean 120 

Gloucester 16 

Tewkesbury 99 

Stroud 103 

Total 439 

*Numbers subject to change 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Flood reports by type: 

 

 

 

 

Type of Flooding Number of Reports 

Properties Flooded (Internal Flooding) 297 

Properties Affected (External flooding) 134 

Unknown 8 

Grand Total 439 

Page 26



 

 

 

 

District Property Type 
Number of 

Reports 
Internal or 

External Flooding 
Number of Reports 

Cheltenham 

Residential 11 

Internal 1 

External 10 

Unknown 0 

Commercial 1 

Internal 1 

External 0 

Unknown 0 

School 1 

Internal 1 

External 0 

Unknown 0 

Cotswold 

Residential 83 

Internal 68 

External 14 

Unknown 1 

Commercial 5 

Internal 5 

External 0 

Unknown 0 

Forest of 
Dean 

Residential 106 

Internal 98 

External 8 

Unknown 0 

Commercial 14 

Internal 13 

External 1 

Unknown 0 

Gloucester 

Residential 15 

Internal 3 

External 12 

Unknown 0 

Commercial 1 

Internal 0 

External 1 

Unknown 0 

Stroud 

Residential 94 

Internal 40 

External 51 

Unknown 3 

Commercial 9 

Internal 6 

External 2 

Unknown 1 

Tewkesbury 

Residential 82 

Internal 46 

External 33 

Unknown 3 

Commercial 17 

Internal 15 

External 2 

Unknown 0 

Property Type Number of Reports 

Residential 391 

Commercial 47 

School 1 

Grand Total 439 

Page 27



Parishes with 5+ internal property reports: 

District Parish Number of Reports 

Cheltenham N/A N/A 

Cotswold Bledington 24 

Cirencester 19 

Lower Slaughter 6 

Moreton-in-Marsh 6 

Forest of Dean Cinderford 10 

Drybrook 5 

Longhope 12 

Lydney 23 

Newent 15 

Rudford and Highleadon 13 

Gloucester N/A N/A 

Tewkesbury Ashchurch Rural 7 

Gretton 6 

Tirley 12 

Winchcombe 12 

Stroud Brimscombe and Thrupp 12 

Stroud 14 

 

Parishes with 5+ reports (internal and external) or most affected parish if less than 5: 

District Parish Number of Reports 

Cheltenham 
Charlton Kings 3 

Lansdown Ward 3 

Cotswold 

Bledington 25 

Cirencester 20 

Lower Slaughter 12 

Moreton-in-Marsh 9 

Forest of Dean 

Cinderford 11 

Drybrook 5 

Longhope 14 

Lydney 23 

Newent 16 

Rudford and Highleadon 13 

Gloucester Abbeydale Ward 4 

Tewkesbury 

Ashchurch Rural 7 

Gretton 24 

Stoke Orchard 5 

Tewkesbury 8 

Tirley 12 

Winchcombe 13 

Woodmancote 6 

Longford 5 

Stroud 

Brimscombe and Thrupp 12 

Hamfallow 9 

Painswick 13 

Standish 7 

Stonehouse 8 

Stroud 16 

Upton St Leonards 13 

  

Page 28



Appendix 2: 

Rainfall and river level summary 

Table 1 shows the rainfall for 23rd December 2020 at various locations across the county and 

Table 2 shows the peak each river level gauge peaked at, on which date and time, and 

whether this was its highest level. It should be noted when looking at this table that many of 

the river level gauges were installed after the 2007 flood event so didn’t record this event. 

The areas with the highest rainfall appear to be Parkend (near Lydney), Bourton-on-the 

Water and Dowdeswell (near Cheltenham), which all recorded greater than 50mm over the 

course of the day. Followed by Newent, Stroud, mid-Cotswolds and areas in Tewkesbury 

Borough, which all saw rainfall in excess of 40mm. Rainfall in the south of the county seems 

to have been either less intense or for a shorter period as totals only reached around 20mm. 

Table 1 - Rainfall totals for 23rd December 2020: 
 

 District  Location Rainfall Total (mm) 

Cheltenham Dowdeswell (near Cheltenham) 53.4 

Stroud 

Ebworth (near Painswick) 47.8 

Miserden (near Stroud) 44.4 

Minchinhampton (near Nailsworth) 19 

Kingswood 19.4 

Gloucester Over Farm (near Gloucester) 8 

Forest of Dean 
Parkend (near Lydney) 56.8 

Taynton (near Newent) 47.8 

Cotswold 

Broadway 36.4 

Chipping Campden 30.2 

Bourton on the Water 56.1 

Stowell Park (near Northleach) 22.4 

Rapsgate (near Rendcomb) 42 

Shorncote (near South Cerney) 20.3 

Tetbury 20.8 

Tewkesbury* 

Tewkesbury 45 

Winchcombe 43 

Bishop’s Cleeve 45 

Churchdown 30 

* There are no rain gauges in Tewkesbury Borough so these values have been 
estimated using radar data 

 
This rainfall translated into many watercourses across the county rising swiftly and 

significantly, many nearing their highest recorded level and in some instances exceeding it. 

It should be noted that many river gauges were installed after 2007 so the recorded levels 

here will not include the July 2007 flood event. 

  

Page 29



Table 2 - River Levels: 
     

      

District River Location 
Peak 
(m) 

Date and Time of 
Peak 

Record 
Peak (m) 

Record Peak 
Exceeded?* 

Cheltenham 

Chelt 

Charlton Kings 1.550 23/12/2020 18:00 2.657 No 

Cox's Flume 1.514 23/12/2020 17:14 2.167 No 

College Road 1.521 23/12/2020 19:09 1.442 Yes 

Arle 2.143 23/12/2020 18:28 2.976 No 

Wymans 
Brook 

Prestbury Road 0.323 23/12/2020 18:00 0.320 Yes 

Windyridge Road 1.522 23/12/2020 18:02 1.338 Yes 

Lilley Brook Moorend Road 1.112 23/12/2020 17:00 1.737 No 

Hatherley 
Brook 

Merestones Road 1.524 23/12/2020 17:30 2.750 No 

Cotswold 

Evenlode 
Moreton 1.492 23/12/2020 21:15 1.461 Yes 

Evenlode Bridge 2.350 23/12/2020 23:45 2.800 No 

Windrush 
Bourton 
Windrush 

0.352 24/12/2020 14:00 0.597 No 

Coln 
Fosse Bridge 0.346 26/12/2020 22:45 0.420 No 

Bibury 0.462 27/12/2020 12:00 0.524 No 

Churn 

Cirencester 0.837 27/12/2020 06:15 1.040 No 

South Cerney 1.401 27/12/2020 09:30 1.470 No 

Cerney Wick 0.711 27/12/2020 14:30 0.682 Yes 

Ampney 
Brook 

Ampney St Peter 0.760 27/12/2020 06:00 1.230 No 

Thames 
Ewen 0.945 27/12/2020 05:15 1.166 No 

Somerford 
Keynes 

1.565 27/12/2020 12:00 1.470 Yes 

Forest 

Wye Lydbrook 5.417 21/12/2020 03:15 7.551 No 

Lyd 
Parkend 1.347 23/12/2020 22:38 1.268 Yes 

Lydney 1.419 24/12/2020 00:48 1.343 Yes 

River 
Leadon 

Wedderburn 
Bridge 

3.210 24/12/2020 03:00 3.799 No 

Gloucester 

Horsbere 
Brook 

Clomoney Way 2.092 23/12/2020 17:44 2.043 Yes 

Wotton 
Brook 

Kingcroft Road 1.804 23/12/2020 18:30 1.727 Yes 

Armscroft Place 1.197 23/12/2020 20:45 1.194 Yes 

Twyver 

Abbeymead 
Avenue 

1.287 23/12/2020 18:30 1.289 No 

Saintbridge 4.517 23/12/2020 20:45 4.500 Yes 

India Road 0.444 23/12/2020 15:15 0.717 No 

Sud 
Cheyney Close 1.975 23/12/2020 21:15 1.072 Yes 

Matson Place 0.900 24/12/2020 03:15 1.040 No 

Whaddon 
Brook 

Shepherd Road 1.226 23/12/2020 18:15 1.030 Yes 

Daniels 
Brook 

Bodiam Avenue 
2.481*
* 

23/12/2020 18:59 1.110 Yes 

Dimore 
Brook 

Field Court Drive 0.815 23/12/2020 21:45 0.934 No 

The Causeway 1.925 23/12/2020 22:30 2.286 No 

Severn Gloucester 3.982 28/12/2020 23:15 4.919 No 

Stroud Frome (MI) Chalford 0.626 24/12/2020 21:12 0.760 No 

Page 30



Eastington  2.026 24/12/2020 02:43 2.211 No 

River 
Frome 

Egypt Mill 
(Nailsworth) 

0.608 27/12/2020 04:48 0.638 No 

Ebley Mill 1.198 23/12/2020 20:59 1.396 No 

Slad Brook 
Slad Road  1.869 23/12/2020 21:02 1.175 Yes 

Merrywalks 1.319 23/12/2020 21:30 1.107 Yes 

River Cam 
Cam 1.947 23/12/2020 19:00 2.651 No 

Cambridge 1.017 23/12/2020 19:57 1.375 No 

Tewkesbury 

Severn 

Mythe Bridge 4.325 25/12/2020 11:04 5.498 No 

Deerhurst Flow 5.368 25/12/2020 23:45 6.382 No 

Haw Bridge 5.208 26/12/2020 05:14 6.228 No 

Ashleworth 4.837 26/12/2020 11:15 6.029 No 

Sandhurst 4.390 27/12/2020 09:18 5.376 No 

Hatherley 
Brook 

Sandhurst 4.374 27/12/2020 12:30 5.350 No 

Leigh Brook Leigh Court 3.219 26/12/2020 05:30 4.236 No 

River 
Isbourne 

Toddington 1.339 23/12/2020 20:30 1.744 No 

River Avon Upper Pound 4.407 25/12/2020 14:49 5.491 No 

*Many gauges were installed after 2007 so this event isn't accounted for in the record peak 
**This looks too high and may be an error 

 
In Cheltenham, the notable river levels include the Wymans Brook in Cheltenham, which 

saw its highest level at around 18:00 on the 23rd. The previous highest at Prestbury Road 

was in August 2014 and at Windyridge Road in November 2019. The river Evenlode in 

Moreton-in-Marsh in the Cotswolds, reached its peak at 21:15 on 23rd and was its highest 

level recorded, exceeding the previous peak from November 2012. The lower reaches of the 

Churn and the upper reaches of the Thames peaked later, on 27th December. The Churn at 

Cerney Wick exceeded its peak recorded in November 1990 and the gauge for the Thames 

at Somerford Keynes exceeded its highest recorded level from December 2012. 

In the Forest of Dean, the Lyd at Parkend and Lydney reached the highest peak, which was 

previously recorded on November 2012 and February 2020 respectively. River levels peaked 

at approximately 22:38 on 23rd at Parkend and 00:48 on 24th at Lydney. The Slad Brook in 

Stroud reached its highest recorded level at Slad Road and Merrywalks, which was 

previously from December 2013. It reached its peak around 21:00 on 23rd. 

Finally, in Gloucester, a number of rivers reached their highest levels, a reflection of the 

rainfall levels in their headwaters rather than in the City itself. They include the Horsbere 

Brook at Clomoney Way (previous peak in July 2012), the Twyver at Saintbridge Balancing 

Pond (previous highest recorded in November 2012), and Whaddon Brook at Shepherd 

Road (previous highest peak from June 2016). River levels peaked between 18:00 and 21:00 

on 23rd. 

  

Page 31



Return Period: 

The return period for a rainfall or flood event is a way of calculating the likelihood, and 

therefore the size, of the event. The underlying principle is that the larger the storm, the 

less likely it is and therefore the less frequently it will be seen. The return period can be 

written in two ways; 1 in x years or x% AEP (Annual Exceedance Probability). They mean the 

same thing so a 1 in 100 year storm will have a 1% chance of happening each year (AEP). 

According to the radar data in Meniscus Map Rain (not the rain gauges, which in some cases 

exceeded the radar rainfall), the return period for the event was relatively low at less than 1 

in 5 years (20% AEP) for most areas. The return period at Tewkesbury was 1 in 8 years 

(12.5% AEP) and 1 in 7 years (14% AEP) for Bishop’s Cleeve. 

Rainfall for December 2020 and preceding months: 

The impact of the rainfall appeared to be worse than what should be expected from the size 

of the storm according to the return periods. It is likely therefore that the preceding wet 

weather made the ground saturated so when it rained on the 23rd surface water developed 

rapidly and the levels of watercourses and rivers rose quickly. 

Table 3 shows the rainfall totals for December for various locations across the county. When 

compared to Table 4, which shows the average rainfall totals for December for 3 locations in 

or near Gloucestershire, it can be seen that, in addition to the high rainfall on 23rd, 

December was well above average. Notable totals include Dowdeswell (near Cheltenham), 

Parkend (near Lydney) and Taynton (near Newent). 

Table 2 - Rainfall totals for December 2020: 
  

District Location Rainfall Total (mm) 

Cheltenham Dowdeswell (near Cheltenham) 356.6 

Stroud 

Ebworth (near Painswick) 181.2 

Minchinhampton (near Nailsworth) 160.2 

Miserden (near Stroud) 190.6 

Gloucester Over Farm (near Gloucester) 106 

Forest of Dean 
Parkend (near Lydney) 272.6 

Taynton (near Newent) 211.6 

Cotswolds* 

Chipping Campden 130 

Bourton on the Water 125 

Naunton 125 

Cirencester 130 

South Cerney 110 

Fairford 100 

Tewkesbury** 

Tewkesbury 140 

Winchcombe 150 

Bishop’s Cleeve 200 

Churchdown 115 

* This information for the rain gauges in the Cotswolds is not yet available so these are estimates 

based on radar data  ** There are no rain gauges in Tewkesbury Borough so these values are 

estimates based on radar data  

Page 32



Table 3 - 1981-2010 average rainfall totals for December*: 
 

Climate Station Rainfall Total (mm) 

Cheltenham 80.8 

Cirencester 82.8 

Ross-on-Wye 74.7 

  

*https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/research/climate/maps-and-data/uk-climate-averages/gcnx0z9e5 

 

As well as December 2020 being a wetter than average month, October 2020 totals were 

also above average (in some cases by a similar degree as December totals) and, although 

November 2020 was generally below average, this amount of rainfall would have led to high 

levels of saturation of the ground. 

Rainfall data in this summary was taken from EA rain gauges unless otherwise specified. 

River Levels were provided by the EA and, where not available, were taken from Gauge Map 

website (www.gaugemap.co.uk). 

 

  

Page 33

https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/research/climate/maps-and-data/uk-climate-averages/gcnx0z9e5
http://www.gaugemap.co.uk/


 

Appendix 3: 

Flooding emergency contact list 

 

As mentioned in the main document, the following document was approved by all listed 

partners. It is designed to work alongside the LLFA flood guide, and not as a replacement. 

FLOODING EMERGENCY CONTACT LIST.Gloucestershire.20210122.pdf  

Page 34



FLOODING EMERGENCY CONTACT LIST 
 
 
Is a property imminently at risk of flooding internally and/ or likely to require evacuating 
due to flooding? Call Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service – 999 
 
Is Main River flooding putting a property at imminent risk of flooding?  

 Telephone: 0800 80 70 60 (Environment Agency incident hotline) 
 
Is highway flooding putting a property at imminent risk of flooding?  

 Telephone: 08000 514 514 (Gloucestershire Highways emergency line) 
 
Is a sewer or water main putting a property at imminent risk of flooding?  

 Severn Trent Water - 0800 783 4444 (emergency line) 

 Thames Water - 0800 714 614 (emergency line) 

 Wessex Water  0345 850 5959 (emergency line) 

 Welsh Water - 0800 085 3968 (emergency line) 

 

 

 

To report recent flooding events, use Gloucestershire County Council’s Flood Online 
Reporting tool 
 
To report highway drainage issues that aren’t putting a property at imminent risk of 

flooding: Report It 

 
District councils have local flood response plans and can be contacted regarding local 
flooding issues (links lead to flooding information pages): 

 Cheltenham Borough Council - 01242 26 26 26 

 Cotswold District Council - 01285 623 000 

 Forest of Dean District Council - 01594 810 000 

 Gloucester City Council - 01452 396 396 

 Stroud District Council - 01453 766 321 

 Tewkesbury Borough Council - 01684 295 010 

 

Further information: 

 GCC Essential Flood Guide - one-stop shop for information on how to prepare for, 

react to and recover from flooding 

 EA Flood Warnings or 0345 988 1188 

 EA River Levels  

 GCC Highways Closed Roads   

 Highways England roads   

 Lower Severn Internal Drainage Board or 01454 413340 

 
 

IF YOUR PROPERTY HAS FLOODED INTERNALLY OR IF YOU NEED ASSISTANCE WITH 
EVACUATION, CALL GLOUCESTERSHIRE FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE – 999 

 
JANUARY 2021 

Page 35

https://www.stwater.co.uk/help-and-contact/contact-us/
https://www.thameswater.co.uk/contact-us
https://www.wessexwater.co.uk/contact-us
https://contact.dwrcymru.com/en
https://swim.geowessex.com/glos/
https://swim.geowessex.com/glos/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/roads/your-highways-report-it/
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/info/59/emergencies/1096/flood_advice
https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/environment/flooding/
https://www.fdean.gov.uk/environment/flooding/
https://www.gloucester.gov.uk/community-living/emergencies/flooding/
https://www.stroud.gov.uk/flooding
https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/flooding
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/flood-risk-management/flood-guide/
https://flood-warning-information.service.gov.uk/warnings
https://flood-warning-information.service.gov.uk/river-and-sea-levels
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/roads/roads-in-severe-weather/current-road-closures/
http://www.trafficengland.com/?evtID=2621626
https://lowersevernidb.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Environment Scrutiny Committee 

Report Title: County Rail Update

Meeting Date: 3 March 2021

Chair: Cllr Rob Bird

Presenting Officer: Rob Niblett  - Senior Planning Officer

Purpose of Report: To consider ongoing rail matters in Gloucestershire 

Planned Dates Local Transport Plan – proposed adoption at Full Council 
on 17th March 2021.

Background 
documents:

Gloucestershire Rail Investment Strategy:
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2096940/glouce
stershire-rail-strategy.pdf

Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan 2015 - 2041
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ltp4 

Network Rail Traction Decarbonisation Network Strategy 
https://www.networkrail.co.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2020/09/Traction-Decarbonisation-
Network-Strategy-Interim-Programme-Business-Case.pdf

Western Gateway Sub National Transport Body Rail 
Strategy 
https://westerngatewaystb.org.uk/strategy/rail-strategy/

Appendices None.

Recommendations To note the contents of the report.

                                                                                                                                      

Page 37

Agenda Item 5

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2096940/gloucestershire-rail-strategy.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2096940/gloucestershire-rail-strategy.pdf
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ltp4
https://www.networkrail.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Traction-Decarbonisation-Network-Strategy-Interim-Programme-Business-Case.pdf
https://www.networkrail.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Traction-Decarbonisation-Network-Strategy-Interim-Programme-Business-Case.pdf
https://www.networkrail.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Traction-Decarbonisation-Network-Strategy-Interim-Programme-Business-Case.pdf
https://westerngatewaystb.org.uk/strategy/rail-strategy/


1. Background

1.1. This report sets out to update Members with regard to rail matters in 
Gloucestershire and to flag up future issues that may arise from the current 
pandemic.

1.2. Gloucestershire has nine rail stations with eight managed by Great Western 
Railway (GWR) and Lydney managed by Transport for Wales (TfW).  
Services are provided by three Train Operating Companies (TOCs) - GWR, 
Cross Country Trains (CCT) and TfW.

1.3. The rail stations are owned by Network Rail (NR).  Before the pandemic 
Cheltenham (c.2.5m 2019/20) had the highest footfall followed by Gloucester 
(c.1.5m 2019/20).

2. Impact of the Covid 19 Pandemic 

2.1. Not surprisingly, passenger numbers have plummeted since the start of the 
pandemic.  Numbers have fluctuated in line with the level of restrictions in 
place at any given time.  The current lockdown with the message to stay at 
home has again led to a severe decline in people travelling on the rail 
network. 

2.2. Rail franchises were placed in Emergency Measures Agreements by the 
Government at the start of the first lockdown. Essentially the railway has 
been nationalised, with the Government taking the risk from the shortfall in 
revenue and paying TOCs to provide services. There have been several 
iterations of the timetables to take account of the restrictions in place.

2.3. The reduction of stops at Chepstow and Lydney on the Cardiff to 
Cheltenham service primarily by CCT has caused considerable problems for 
students from the Forest of Dean going to schools in Gloucester and 
Cheltenham.  Although TfW have maintained their stops at Chepstow and 
Lydney, they terminated their services at Gloucester for a few weeks which 
caused further problems in terms of journey times and extended waiting 
times at Gloucester station in the evening.  These have been restored in the 
main. 

2.4. CCT have reinstated a number of their Cardiff to Nottingham services, 
although there are still a few gaps, notably in the afternoon which were 
causing problems for pupils when attending school.  This service is due to be 
restored in May 2021.

2.5. On the long distance North to South West route, CCT have reduced services 
to one an hour instead of two an hour.  GWR have reduced the number of 
direct services to London with a Cheltenham to Swindon shuttle service 
running in between the direct services.

2.6. It is possible that in the short term the Government will reduce rail services 
nationally due to low demand and the need to cut costs, until such a time 
when circumstances and public confidence allow more travel. 

2.7. Punctuality of the remaining services has increased due to less congestion 
on the network.  Freight traffic has remained at near normal levels, with 
some sectors reducing flows and others increasing.

2.8. The longer term impact of the pandemic on rail demand is difficult to predict.  
Increased working from home is likely to continue with the consequent 
reduction in the number of commuters, a major source of revenue for TOCs.  
The traditional morning and evening peaks are likely to reduce and be 
spread more widely over the day. Leisure traffic will probably return to 
reasonable levels as was demonstrated last Summer when restrictions were 
eased. Also, there is the ongoing need to access education and training as 

Page 38



well as employment which is likely to remain.  However, overall passenger 
numbers are unlikely to return to pre-Covid levels for a number of years.   

2.9. Clearly rail has a crucial role to play in reducing carbon emissions and 
congestion by providing an attractive alternative to the car. Therefore it is 
important that post-Covid services are able to meet these objectives 
particularly given the considerable amount of development that is planned to 
take place in the county over the next two decades.  

2.10. The Gloucestershire Rail Investment Strategy (GRIS) identified the Bristol to 
Birmingham corridor as the most economically important for the county - 
mainly because of the potential connectivity it offers with an enhanced level 
of services calling at Cam and Dursley, Gloucester and Ashchurch for 
Tewkesbury.  This value will increase significantly given that a lot of the 
planned new development in Gloucestershire is likely to be close to this axis.  
The route mirrors the M5 and so offers opportunities for modal shift. The 
GRIS has helped inform the strategic planning work of NR.
 

3. Timetable and Capacity Improvements

3.1. Despite the uncertainty caused by the pandemic, NR continue to progress 
their long term strategic planning process.  The Bristol to Birmingham Rail 
Corridor Study involves a range of organisations along the route including 
local authorities as well as representatives from the rail industry.  The 
Western Gateway Sub National Transport Body’s (WGSNTB) Rail Strategy 
formed the baseline for the work and is the client.

3.2. The aim is to reconcile the competing long term service aspirations from 
organisations based on economic and demand analysis informed by the 
proposed housing and employment growth along the route up to 2031 as set 
out in adopted local plans.  Longer term growth is also taken into account.  

3.3. Three Indicative Train Service Specifications have been set out which will 
now be subject to further analysis by NR.  All three show a significant uplift 
for services within Gloucestershire both local and regional.  

3.4. These include improved services between Bristol – Gloucester – Worcester, 
which is currently every two hours as well as additional trains between 
Cardiff and Birmingham and on the South Cotswold line.

3.5. An hourly Bristol to Worcester service is planned to start in December 2021 
along with an additional Bristol to Gloucester service (subject to approval 
from the West of England Combined Authority [WECA]).

3.6. NR recently published its Traction Decarbonisation Network Strategy which 
identifies all the lines in the county for future electrification although no 
timescale is given for this.  Electrification offers a number of economic 
benefits as well as environmental, including increasing capacity on lines and 
reducing noise.

3.7. The County Council is a member of the North Cotswold Line Task Force 
which seeks to promote additional services and faster journey times between 
Worcester, Moreton in Marsh, Oxford and London.  It has set out a number 
of costed interventions and infrastructure enhancements needed to bring 
about these service improvements in a Strategic Outline Business Case.  
This has been submitted to the Department for Transport (DfT).   

4. New Rail Stations 

4.1. The emerging review of the Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan (LTP) 
2015 - 2041 commits GCC to work with the rail industry to examine the case 
for a possible new station south of Gloucester.  This is to help enable 

Page 39



sustainable growth to take place. The LTP was approved at Cabinet on 27th 
January 2021 and will be considered for adoption at Full Council on 17th 
March 2021.  

4.2. Studies carried out by NR previously have indicated that there is limited 
capacity on the line for a new rail station.  South Gloucestershire Council are 
currently progressing plans for a new station at Charfield.  

4.3. Given the limited scope on the route for a new rail station, it is important that 
studies are carried out to determine, whether a new station is viable and, if 
so, where it should be positioned to offer the greatest benefits in terms of 
access, connectivity and reducing transport related emissions.  

4.4. Accordingly, a bid is being made to the third round of the DfT’s Restoring 
Your Railway Fund.  This is specifically for funding to look at the feasibility of 
a possible new rail station south of Gloucester.  This, along with the 
emerging multi modal study that the County Council has recently 
commissioned, will help inform where the most appropriate (if any) location 
is for a new rail station that would best support long term sustainable 
strategic growth in this part of the county. 

5. Conclusion 

5.1. The ongoing impact of the pandemic on passenger numbers will be felt for a 
number of years and travel patterns are likely to change permanently.  
However, to ensure that transport is increasingly decarbonised to reduce its 
impact on climate change, it is important that improved services are in place 
to meet demand when it returns.  It is therefore crucial that the County 
Council continues to actively engage with the rail industry individually and 
collectively through active participation in the WGSNTB and other partners.

5.2. There is significant growth planned in the county over the next thirty years 
and rail has a key role to play in enabling this to take place sustainably.  

Page 40



SCRUTINY REVIEW – ONE PAGE STRATEGY 

Broad topic area Environment 

Specific topic area Pollution in Gloucestershire’s Rivers 

Ambitions for the 

review 

 

 

 

 

 

 To work with partners, NGOs and water treatment operators to 

understand the extent and derivation of pollution present in the 

county’s rivers 

 To understand the extent of the damage this pollution is having on 

the ecosystems within our rivers 

 To understand the legal context of permissible sewage dumps and 

whether this is being followed in the county. 

 To invite water treatment operators and other polluters to meet with 

officers and councillors to scrutinise their performance.  

 To explore the extent of wild swimming in Gloucestershire and the 

possibility of establishing a designated bathing area, as promoted 

by the Rivers Trust’s “Together for Rivers” campaign 

How do we 

perform at the 

moment? 

 

 In 2019 water treatment operators discharged raw sewage into 

English rivers on more than a combined 55,000 occasions, totalling 

nearly 400,000 hours.   

 While discharges are legally permitted in exceptional 

circumstances, operators have been accused of routinely resorting 

to such measures.   

 Members of the public are concerned by this threat to public 

health. 

 Gloucestershire has just one designated outdoor bathing water 

spot in Gloucestershire, at the Cotswold Country Park and Beach. 

Who and how 

should we consult? 

 Environment Agency 

 Water operators: Severn Trent, Thames Water and Wessex Water 

 District Councils 

 NGOs including Windrush Against Sewage Pollution 

 The Rivers Trust 

Background 

information 

In September 2020, a motion was referred from full Council to be 

considered by the Environment Scrutiny Committee on this topic.  

(Minutes of the full Council meeting can be found here: 

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=333

&MId=9405&Ver=4) 

 

Members of the Committee, supported by the proposer and seconder 

of the motion, requested the formation of a task group to further 

explore this issue. This was also supported by the Cabinet Member 

responsible. 

Support 

 

 Democratic Services 

 Other specialist GCC officers and teams as required 

How long will it 

take? 

6 months (post the May 2021 election) 

Outcomes  A greater understanding of the levels of pollution in our rivers 

 A plan of action for dealing with river pollution  

 A roadmap to achieving bathing water status for our rivers 

 

Page 41

Agenda Item 6

https://www.theriverstrust.org/together-for-rivers/
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=333&MId=9405&Ver=4
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=333&MId=9405&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



Director’s Report, Economy, Environment & Infrastructure
Scrutiny Committee Report

March 2021

This report summarises key areas likely to lead to decisions over the next 6 months, 
including updates on areas previously reported.  

1.0 Decisions

1.1      Relevant forthcoming decisions, by date due:
 The proposed adoption of the ULEV (Ultra Low Emissions Vehicles) Strategy and the 

procurement and installation of Electric Vehicle Chargers across Gloucestershire. (Between 
16 Nov 2020 and 21 Dec 2020 by Cabinet Member - Environment and Planning)

 Gloucestershire County Council’s partnership agreement with Gloucester City Council, 
Cheltenham Borough Council and Tewkesbury Borough Council in relation to the Joint 
Core Strategy (Between 3 Aug 2020 and 31 Mar 2021 by Cabinet Member - Environment 
and Planning)

 A435 Bishops Cleeve to Cheltenham Capacity Improvements – Contract Procurement 
(Between 12 Jan 2021 and 19 Mar 2021 by Cabinet Member - Highways and Flood)

 B4063 GLOUCESTER TO CHELTENHAM CYCLE IMPROVEMENTS – Contract 
Procurement and Ancillary Orders (Between 1 Mar 2021 and 29 Mar 2021 by Cabinet 
Member - Environment and Planning)

 M5 Junction 9/A46 (Ashchurch) Transport Scheme (24 March by Cabinet)
 GCC Infrastructure Recovery Strategy (24 March by Cabinet)
 Proposed adoption of the Gloucestershire Local Development Guide 2020 (24 March by 

Cabinet)
 Tender and Award of Materials Recycling, Reuse and Recovery Services under the 

Dynamic Purchasing System for Household Recycling Centres (24 March by Cabinet)

1.2 Pending Items not yet published on the Forward Plan:
 Highways Public Notices and Advertising 
 Tender and Award of Recyclate Services under the Dynamic Purchasing System for HRCs 
 Proposed adoption of the Gloucestershire Local Development Guide 2020 
 M5 J10 Infrastructure Recovery Strategy 
 Proposed nomination for open call for a community to host a world first fusion power plant 

and associated opportunities 

2.0 Highways 

2.1 COVID19 Response
 Most elements of delivery are continuing to operate at normal levels despite impacts from 

some staff absences being greater at present.  Critical worker letters have been issued 
where appropriate.

 Works are ongoing to try to ensure resilience in operations and winter/emergency response 
being maintained over the coming months.  Working closely with partner organisations.  
Additional work around business continuity in this area has focused on actions in the event 
of multiple scenarios such as high sickness levels combined with snow or flood event.

2.2 M5 Junction 10 / HIF bid
 OBC submitted to MHCLG on 21st March 2019; additional GCC revenue secured to 

progress this project throughout 2020/21; positive decision made in March 2020 stating that 
our bid had been successful. The funding shortfall was subject to an approved Cabinet 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=34751&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=34751&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=32367&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=32367&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=32367&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=37008&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=37083&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=37083&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=37914&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=37850&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=32801&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=37648&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=37648&Opt=0


report on 17th June 2020; and authority to use CPO powers if necessary approved by 
Cabinet 22nd July 2020.

 The GDA is now signed; maximum sum value of £249M
 Lead Cabinet Members are being updated on a monthly basis.
 Non-statutory public consultation ran from 14th October – 25th November.  Good response 

to the consultation has been received and the results will form part of the wider work to feed 
into the Preferred Route Announcement in Spring 2021.

 Land agents appointed to progress land acquisition and negotiations in partnership with 
GCC Property.  

 Claims to date total just over £6m including ‘historic claim’ claw back. 

2.3 Highways Contracts
 Term maintenance/Professional Services - Resources operating with some limited impact 

from COVID19.  Performance on cyclical maintenance and defect repair remains above 
target.  Ability to work collaboratively with all teams remote remains challenging.

 Structural maintenance - delivery now ahead of schedule for 20/21 following concerted 
efforts to recover time lost due to COVID19 impacts.  The website shows the current 
schedule plus the interactive map for 20/21 works.  Now moving towards the final year 
(21/22) of the additional investment period.

 Street lighting – Skanska sale to M Group now confirmed - will involve a novation of the 
street lighting contract – more detail to follow as it becomes available.

 Highways Skills Academy – work continues to support apprenticeships across 
Gloucestershire Highways with those already in place (over 15).  The team are now also 
developing work on the possibility of delivering traineeships through the Skills Academy. 
Despite the difficulties in recruiting and training of new staff under pandemic restrictions the 
Skills Academy has managed to achieve its target of bringing eight more new apprentices 
into the business across GCC, Ringway and Atkins.

2.4 Highways Delivery
 Winter/emergency – significant emergency response over the Christmas period with 

flooding incidents, Storm Bella and snow affecting the county.  A seasonal peak in reported 
potholes and safety defects is now occurring but performance on repair times and levels 
remains satisfactory and additional gangs have been deployed to the network.  

 Depots/property – 20/21 funding from MTFS for land acquisition for replacement depot, 
additional MTFS bid for works to Cirencester Depot where structural failure of outer building 
has occurred.  Likely to be delayed because of response to COVID19.

 Ash die back programme – works proceeding well to fully utilise the £0.5m funding on 
addressing ash die back in 20/21.  Significant tree removal works now being undertaken in 
target areas, and work progressing on the parallel works for replacement trees which will be 
aligned with the wider Council strategy for tree planting.  A tree planting strategy for the 
replacement of those felled has been agreed where two trees will be planted for each one 
felled.  Plans being made to enable the proactive work on removing diseased ash trees to 
continue in 21/22.

2.5 A419 Junction Improvements (Stonehouse)
 Works are substantially complete.  We continue to review the scheme with local 

stakeholders alongside the post works evaluation that we undertake for all major projects.  

2.6 A38 Canal Bridges, Whitminster
 Works are largely complete, and following completion of the roundabout works, further 

works to connect the canal either side will be progressed.
 Cotswold Canal Trust and Stroud District Council successful in lottery bid for £8.9m, 4.5 

miles of canal, (opening Thrupp through to Sharpness canal at Saul Junction).  The funding 
also includes the creation of 21 hectares of biodiversity land, planting 30,000 trees and 
shrubs, generating additional spending of £5.5 million per year in the local economy, 

Page 44



bringing health benefits estimated at £8 million a year, preserving the canal archives from 
the 1730s and involving up to 500 extra volunteers. GCC are a partner in its delivery.

2.7 West Cheltenham / Cyber £22M
 Following December 2018 Cabinet approval, Outline Business Cases for all phases of the 

scheme have been drawn up; business Cases for Phases 1 & 2 were submitted, presented 
and agreed at the LEP Board on 10th December 2019; business Cases for Phases 3 & 4 
were submitted, presented and agreed at the LEP Board on 9th June 2020;

 Work started on site for Phases 1 and 2 in June 2020 and works are currently on schedule 
to be completed by Summer 2021.

 The Phase 3 and 4 Design and Build contract started in January 2021 and is due to be 
complete by the end of 2021.  A contractor share event is planned for February 2021.

 Highways England’s safety critical works at Staverton Bridge and M5 Junction 11 are 
underway with Arle Court forming part of the M5J11 diversion route, whilst this has resulted 
in an increase in stakeholder contact there has been no impact on the Phase 1 & 2 works 
programme, largely due to reduced traffic volumes during covid restrictions.

2.8 Ashchurch Bridge over Rail (Delivery for Tewkesbury Borough Council)
    Planning permission for the bridge has been submitted. The latest update is that this will 

now go on the agenda for the March planning Committee.  
    Works continue with Tewkesbury Borough Council and Network Rail to understand the 

complexities of the legal agreements required for the construction phase.
    Detailed design continues (Atkins).

3.0 Community & Infrastructure 

3.1 DfT Emergency Active Travel Fund 
 London Road cycle route: Detailed design is underway for 140m of cycle lanes between 

Tesco and Great Western Road (past the Nepalese Chef). Consultation is underway on 
footway improvements including a raised table crossing on Claremont Road at its junction 
with London Road. This will help pedestrians and enable shop deliveries to take place off 
the main road, keeping the cycle lanes clear.

 Active Travel Fund Tranche 2 (B4063 Chelt-Glos cycle route): Public consultation has 
started on proposals for an off road segregated scheme between Arle Court (Cheltenham) 
and Elmbridge Court (Gloucester) via Staverton and Churchdown. The response rate to 
date has been high.

3.2 ITU Public Transport and School Transport
 Following the government’s announcement that schools and colleges will return on Monday 

8 March officers have been working with schools, colleges and bus operators to ensure that 
sufficient capacity is in place for entitled pupils to travel to school. In recent weeks the ITU 
has also been assisting transport operators with implementing additional testing and 
vaccination for their staff who work closely with vulnerable people.

 GWR has given assurances that all key school and college rail services will be operating 
from this date. Over the last year, GWR have worked closely with colleges and schools to 
map these services. Many are already running, but where they are not, GWR will have 
them reinstated in time to support students, pupils and returning staff.

 As restrictions ease over the course of the coming months and more passengers return to 
the railway, GWR will continue to restore services to their timetable. 

3.3 Electric Vehicles 
 A cabinet member decision is planned for March to approve the ULEV Strategy and 

procurement of a provider to implement a countywide investment in EV charging points. 
These will primarily serve residents in areas where households lack private drives/garages 
which could be used charge vehicles overnight.

Page 45



3.4 School Streets
 Officers are evaluating feedback from a survey of School Streets pilots in Tewkesbury and in 

Warden Hill, Cheltenham. By making the changes under Experimental TRO legislation the 
council has flexibility to make modifications during the first 6 months.  A high number of 
responses were received from both school communities.

3.5 Sustainability
 The 2021/22 Council budget includes funding to support the decarbonisation of transport and 

to create in-house capacity to support the delivery of active travel, public transport, road safety 
and traffic management schemes.

4.0 Strategic Infrastructure

4.1 B4063 / A40 Highways England Cycling Scheme – Cheltenham to Gloucester
 This project will need to link into the under construction GCC £22M transport improvement 

scheme to the west of Cheltenham. The original HE scheme, in order to fulfil funding 
criteria, needed to be completed by March 2020. This, however, was subsequently 
extended to construction starting in 2021, as part of the RIS2 process. Given the limited 
progress to date, the original date was increasingly impossible to adhere to.  GCC officers 
continue to engage with HE’s Route Manager to attempt to ensure everything is ‘joined up’. 
GCC officers have decided to take over the detailed design of this project, given the HE 
delays with the design fully underway and expected to be complete in Spring 2021. This will 
have the key advantage of directly linking the project to the emerging £22M West 
Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme (WCTIS) providing a continuous link between 
Gloucester and Cheltenham Station once complete and include the recently successfully 
delivered Emergency Active Travel Scheme on London Road in Gloucester. A bid was 
recently submitted to the GFirst LEP for £5M towards this scheme. Despite scoring well, the 
scheme was not shortlisted by the LEP for funding. The GFirst LEP Board, in December 
2020 agreed that any future underspend on the £22M WCTIS would be ringfenced to the 
B4063 cycle scheme. Prior to this, in November 2020, £864k was secured from an EATF 
Tranche 2 bid from the Department for Transport, which will part fund a section of the 
works. This settlement is currently being challenged. 

4.2 M5 Junction 9 and A46 (Ashchurch)
 The Strategic Outline Business Case for the M5 J9 / A46 scheme was submitted to the DfT 

in January 2020;
 Positive Government announcement in March 2020, stating that the scheme should 

progress to the next stage;
 This is to progress to the Outline Business Case – the cost of which is likely to be £2M-£3M 

– part of the funding will come from the approved £4M GCC funding for ‘business case 
development’ in 2020/21;

 Discussions re- possible future funding ongoing with both Homes England and Tewkesbury 
BC due to the links to the ‘garden town’. 

4.3 Improved rail connectivity
 Rail Strategy published March 2020;
 This will now feed into the emerging review of the Local Transport Plan (LTP), which was 

approved at Cabinet on 27th January 2021, prior to proposed adoption at Full Council on 
17th March 2021. 

4.4 Digital connectivity
 Cabinet considered and approved the latest, revised Fastershire Broadband Strategy 2019-

2022 in December 2019;
 This is now being implemented, with a view to securing solutions for ‘the final 3%’. 

Page 46



4.5 A417 Missing Link
 Preferred Route Announcement (Route 30) made March 2019;
 Further public consultation took place in Autumn 2019;
 A supportive officer-level response to this consultation (a joint response from CDC, TBC 

and GCC) was sent on 8th November 2019;
 Positive announcement in March 2020 stating that the scheme has secured funding and 

should progress to DCO later this year;
 Various issues, including National Trust (NT) withdrawing their support for some aspects of 

the scheme, have resulted in a need for the scheme to be redesigned. This will lead to a 
delay of 8-12 months to the scheme’s timetable. The Leader has taken this up with NT. 

 The revised proposals were subject to a public consultation, which started on 12th October 
2020. A detailed GCC officer response was sent, meeting the external deadline of 12th 
November 2020. 

4.6 GSWB / Llanthony Road
 Planning permission granted April 2019;
 Ongoing negotiations with landowners / landlords re- 14 plots; contract now agreed with 

City Business Centre, work progressing well in relocation for businesses within this site
 Planning application in with GCC for change of use (part of City Business Centre to become 

car park for displaced parking)
 The ‘virtual’ CPO Public Inquiry took place on 24th November 2020 – 2 objectors remain. 

Neither of which were represented at the Inquiry.  The DfT’s target date for a decision 
remains as the 13th April 2021.

 Advance preparatory works are scheduled to commence during the week commencing 1st 
March at Llanthony Priory, signage will be in place to highlight the start of preparatory 
works and a press release is in the process of being drafted

 Arrangements are being made to prepare tender documents for the City Business Centre 
demolition contract

4.7 Local Transport Plan (LTP)
 Adopted in 2016;
 Currently being reviewed;
 Public consultation took place 16th January – 26th March 2020;
 GCC Cabinet approved the revised LTP on 27th January 2021, before proposed adoption at 

Full Council on 17th March 2021.

4.8 Minerals Local Plan
 The Plan has now been adopted. 

4.9 Chepstow Transport Improvements
 Consultant’s report outlined scheme options;
 Monmouthshire CC keen to progress the Business Case;
 GCC Lead Cabinet Members supported a GCC financial contribution of £20K (2020/21) 

towards Stage 2 of the Chepstow Transport Study.  

4.10 Cinderford 
 FoDDC yet to secure planning permission and funding for proposed extension of phase one 

of the road;
 FoDDC aiming to apply to themselves (via a Section 73 amendment) to vary the existing 

planning permission later in 2020/21;
 Until planning and funding is in place, no further action for GCC. 

4.11 Local Plans / JCS / CIL
 Review of JCS now underway following an ‘Issues and Options’ consultation which ended 

in January 2019;

Page 47



 GCC’s signing of the JCS Partnership Agreement has now been paused and it currently 
depends on the outcome of the JCS CIL review (see below);

 There was agreement with JCS officers in October 2019 that there should be an immediate 
review of the JCS CIL. GCC had agreed to financially contribute £25K towards this and the 
review was progressing. Earlier this year, JCS officers informed GCC that this CIL review 
will be paused due to (i) CV-19 and (ii) lack of secured funding from the District Councils;

 GCC education and library contributions continue to be challenged and ‘declined’ by some 
District Councils and developers. We have now failed to secure several millions of pounds 
worth of essential infrastructure;

 GCC continues to not receive a penny of CIL from any of the JCS authorities;
 That said, negotiations continue with some positive progress made and Lead Cabinet 

Members have been updated;
 Stroud Local Plan – Consultation on Draft Local Plan – closed 22nd January 2020. 

Significant officer-level concerns submitted to SDC – especially transport issues re- the 
significant proposed development at Sharpness. Another SDC consultation took place with 
additional possible housing sites, which was responded to in December 2020.

 Cotswold Local Plan – Adopted in August 2018;
 Forest of Dean Local Plan – Issues and Options consultation ended on 31st October 2019. 

FoDDC recently consulted on a ‘preferred option’ – the closing date for comments was 29th 
January 2021. GCC officers commented before this deadline. 

5.0 Libraries & Registration

5.1 Libraries
 Libraries continue to offer click & collect services and limited PC use.  If conditions allow 

libraries will be permitted to re-open for browsing no earlier than 12th April.  Plans are in 
place for re-introducing browsing.

 Following agreement at full Council to fund the rollout of Innovation Labs an initial meeting 
is set up to create a project plan and finalise locations of the new labs.

5.2 Registration 
 The UK Government’s routemap has given detail around wedding and civil partnership 

ceremonies with restrictions easing and numbers increasing through to 21st June 2021.  
 The regulations were laid before Parliament on 22nd February 2021 to introduce the 

Marriage Schedule System.  This would make the legal record electronic rather than the 
current paper registers and makes changes to who can be recorded on a marriage 
certificate.  Whilst this is a welcome step it will mean that processes and procedures within 
Gloucestershire Registration Service need to be changed, which will be very time intensive 
whilst the service is dealing with backlogs and increased wedding ceremonies..  It is 
anticipated that the new system will be in place from 4th May 2021.

6.0 Waste Management 

 Waiting times for an appointment to visit a Household Recycling Centre (HRC) remain low, 
but there may be some increased demand as the weather begins to warm up and the 
country’s route out of lockdown begins to take shape. Waiting times remain longest at Pyke 
Quarry:

Site Waiting time 18th Jan 21 Waiting time at 23rd Feb 21
Fosse Cross 2 days 2 days
Hempsted 5 days 6 days
Oak Quarry 1 day 2 days
Pyke Quarry 11 days 13 days
Wingmoor 1 day 2 days

Page 48



 The HRCs will move to their summer opening hours of 9am until 5pm on 28th March. This 
will increase daily opening hours by 2 hours per day. Sites are open six days per week.

 Evaluation of bids for the council’s Food Waste Treatment Contract has been completed 
and a contract award offer will be made in the first week of March. New contract 
arrangements need to be in place by 1st October 2021. 

 General and healthcare waste management arrangements for the Covid-19 mass testing 
sites at the Friendship café in Gloucester and at the Royal Agricultural College, Cirencester 
have been set up and are operating smoothly. Plans are also in place to support the site 
opening in Cinderford on 17th March. As a fall-back, agreement has been reached with the 
Environment Agency that the healthcare wastes associated with lateral flow device testing 
can be treated at the Gloucestershire Energy from Waste facility if necessary. This is in 
response to known capacity issues within the clinical/healthcare waste market at present.

 A report will be considered by Cabinet in March to seek authorisation to reprocure contracts 
for the off-take of (the twenty plus) materials collected and recycled at HRCs. The new 
agreements will commence 1st September 2021.

 Work is underway on the development of a new contract for the management of the HRC 
service with Ubico. Cabinet agreed in July 2020 to award a new five plus two year contract 
to Ubico without further competition. The new agreement will take effect from 1st September 
2021.

 Work has commenced with district council partners on the development of a new 
Resources and Waste Strategy for Gloucestershire. The Gloucestershire Resources and 
Waste Partnership hopes to conduct a public consultation exercise on strategy options in 
the autumn of 2021.

7.0 Employment and Skills 

7.1 Adult Education Service
 AES’s contribution to the local skills support for economic recovery has been completed 

and has been shared with the GAB and stakeholders in October. This should help raise the 
profile of GCC Adult Education and also stimulate further discussion and provision with 
District Councils, community groups, etc. and helps with further collaboration over the use 
of Adult Education Budget (AEB) with local colleges. This is a live document that we will 
continue to update based on local skills need, LMI and claimant count. 

 Since the implementation of the new staffing structure (commenced 1st September), good 
progress is being made with staff being embedded into new roles. The transition from old to 
new is progressing very well despite Covid-19 related challenges. An internal full review of 
our current processes and procedures is underway to enable the Service to continue 
making improvements (streamlining, efficiency gains and cost savings). Full impact of the 
changes will not be shown from a working point of view until full service is up and running 
post Covid restrictions but so far staff are embracing the process well.

 Online learning remains in place for community learning, skills and apprenticeship 
provision. It is likely that longer-term the Service will retain more of a blended learning 
approach combining online and face-to-face learning, although this remains challenging 
with Community learning, we continued through the second and current lockdown to 
provide face to face learning to those most vulnerable and facing digital poverty, which has 
seen all classes at capacity with 6 learners (socially distanced). 

 Performance 2nd Quarter (Learner enrolments, Income from ESFA, Exam passes, 
Retention Rates, etc.) remain strong in most areas despite Covid-19 related challenges. 
New HOS has reviewed all plans and is confident that forecasts are achievable and 
accurate at this time.

 Since the return (enabling a combination of office-based and home working each week for 
staff through ‘split working rota bubbles’), motivation and morale has significantly improved. 
Some staff remain working solely from home.

 Subcontractors’ bids have now been finalised and verbally accepted, call off agreements 
have now been sent to each provider for signing.

Page 49



 AES are currently at a low risk with regards to any shortages of staff (capacity and Covid-19 
based). This is monitored on a daily basis including a monthly review meeting between 
senior staff in AES.

 Plans to gradually open the centre up for more face to face delivery are being put into 
action following the latest update from Boris Johnson and strictly following the government 
Covid regulations.

- REPORT END - 

Page 50



ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

WORK PLAN 2020-21

3 March 2021
Report deadline: 22 February 2021

Last meeting of this Council

Rail developments

December 2020 flood events

River pollution task group 
request

POSSIBLE FUTURE ITEMS

1 Infrastructure South – including the third river 
crossing

3 Visit to Javelin Park Post-Covid

2 Infrastructure Planning 4 Environmental impacts of Cabinet decisions Tentative: 
June 2021

P
age 51

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes
	13.1.21
	Minutes


	4 December 2020 flooding: Gloucestershire Lead Local Flood Authority summary report
	FLOODING EMERGENCY CONTACT LIST.Gloucestershire.20210122

	5 Rail developments
	6 Restoring our Rivers - one page strategy
	7 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S REPORT: ECONOMY, ENVIRONMENT & INFRASTRUCTURE
	8 Work Plan

